
 

 

Please ask for Democratic Services: Telephone 01775 764693  

e-mail: demservices@sholland.gov.uk 

 

AGENDA 
 
 
 

 
 

Committee - POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL 
 
Date & Time - Tuesday, 16 November 2021 at 6.30 pm 
 

Venue - Council Chamber, Council Offices, Priory Road, 
Spalding 

 
 

Membership of the Policy Development Panel: 
 
Councillors: J Avery, A C Beal, F Biggadike, M D Booth, H Drury, R A Gibson, M Hasan, 
J L King, J D McLean, P A Redgate, J L Reynolds, G T D Rudkin, G P Scalese (Vice-
Chairman), S-A Slade, S C Walsh and A R Woolf (Chairman) 
 
Substitute members on the Policy Development Panel may be appointed only from 
members who are not on the Cabinet.  Substitutions apply for individual meetings. 
 
Quorum: 6 
 

 

 If you would like to attend this meeting as a 
member of the public, please contact 

Democratic Services via email at 
demservices@sholland.gov.uk or via 

telephone on 01775 764693. 

Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn mobile telephones to silent 

mode 

 
 
Democratic Services 
Council Offices, Priory Road 
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE 
 
Date:   8 November 2021 
 

mailto:demservices@sholland.gov.uk


A G E N D A 
 
1.  Apologies for absence.  

 
 

2.  Minutes -  
To sign as a correct record the minutes of the Policy Development Panel 
21 September 2021 (enclosed) 
 

(Pages 
5 - 20) 

3.  Declaration of Interests. -  
Where a Councillor has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest the Councillor 
must declare the interest to the meeting and leave the room without 
participating in any discussion or making a statement on the item, 
except where a councillor is permitted to remain as a result of a grant of 
dispensation. 
 

 

4.  Questions asked under Standing Order 6  
 

 

5.  Tracking of recommendations -  
To consider responses of the Cabinet reports of the Panel.   
 

 

6.  Items referred from the Performance Monitoring Panel  
 

 

7.  Key Decision Plan -  
To note the current Key Decision Plan (copy enclosed).   
 

(Pages 
21 - 26) 

8.  Policy Register Update -  
To note the current Policy Register. 
 

(Pages 
27 - 32) 

9.  Data Protection Policy -  
To note the revised Data Protection Policy (report of the Assistant 
Director – Governance enclosed). 
 

(Pages 
33 - 66) 

10.  Draft Climate Change Strategy -  
To gain member input into the draft Climate Change Strategy prior to 
wider public/stakeholder consultation (report of the Climate Change and 
Environment Manager enclosed). 
 

(Pages 
67 - 96) 

11.  Fuel Card Policy -  
To note the new Fuel Card Policy (report of Assistant Director – 
Neighbourhoods enclosed). 
 

(Pages 
97 - 
104) 

12.  Corporate Enforcement Policy -  
To seek approval of a revised Corporate Enforcement Policy (report of 
the Assistant Director – Regulatory enclosed). 
 

(Pages 
105 - 
124) 

13.  Industrial Units Letting Policy -  
A verbal update on the Industrial Units Letting Policy will be provided by 
the Strategic Property Manager. 
 

 

14.  Asset Management Strategy Policy -  
A verbal update on the Asset Management Strategy Policy will be 
delivered by the Strategic Property Manager. 

 



 
15.  Untidy Sites Policy Document Handbook -  

A verbal update on the Untidy Sites Policy Document Handbook will be 
delivered by the Assistant Director – Strategic Projects. 
 

 

16.  Policy Development Panel Work Programme -  

To set out the Work Programme of the Policy Development Panel 
(report of the Assistant Director – Governance and Monitoring Officer 
enclosed). 

 

(Pages 
125 - 
130) 

17.  Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent. -  
 
 
NOTE: No other business is permitted unless by reason of special 

circumstances, which shall be specified in the minutes, the 
Chairman is of the opinion that the item(s) should be 
considered as a matter of urgency.   

 

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 - 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL held in the Function 
Room, South Holland Centre, Market Place, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 1SS, on 
Tuesday, 21 September 2021 at 6.30 pm. 
 

PRESENT 

  
A R Woolf (Chairman) 

G P Scalese (Vice-Chairman) 
 

 

A C Beal 
F Biggadike 
R A Gibson 
 

P A Redgate 
J L Reynolds 
G T D Rudkin 
 

S-A Slade 
S C Walsh 
A M Newton 
 

In Attendance: The Assistant Director - Communities and Operations, the Assistant 
Director Property and Delivery, the Assistant Director Housing, the Head of Delivery, 
the Head of Environmental and Operational Services, the Environmental Services 
Business Support Manager, the Building Control Manager, the Democratic Services 
Team Leader and the Democratic Services Officer. 
 
Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors J R Astill, 
J Avery, M D Booth, M Hasan and J L King  
 
 
 Action By 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

  

 Notification had been received that Councillor Newton was 
replacing Councillor King for this meeting only.  

 

   

2. POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL   

  

 Consideration was given to the minutes of the Policy 
Development Panel meeting held on 2 March 2021. 
 

AGREED: 
 
That the minutes be signed as a correct record.  

 

   

3. JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL AND POLICY 
 DEVELOPMENT PANEL  

 

  

 Consideration was given to the minutes of the Joint Performance 
Monitoring Panel and Policy Development Panel meeting held on 
29 June 2021. 
 

AGREED: 
 
That the minutes be signed as a correct record. 
 
  

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2.



- 2 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 21 
September 2021 

 

 

   

4. JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL AND POLICY 
 DEVELOPMENT PANEL  

 

  

 Consideration was given to the minutes of the Joint Performance 
Monitoring Panel and Policy Development Panel meeting held on 
22 July 2021. 
 

AGREED: 
 
That the minutes be signed as a correct record.  

 

   

5. QUESTIONS ASKED UNDER STANDING ORDER 6   

  

 There were none.     

   

6. TRACKING OF RECOMMENDATIONS   

  

 There were none.    

   

7. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS.   

  

 There were none.   

   

8. ITEMS REFERRED FROM THE PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
 PANEL  

 

  

 There were none.     

   

9. KEY DECISION PLAN   

  

 Consideration was given to the Key Decision Plan dated 13 
September 2021, and the following points arose: 
 

• Regarding the Acquisition of Properties items on the Key 
Decision Planner, members commented that when the planner 
had been considered at Performance Monitoring Panel earlier 
in the month, there had been six of these items on the planner. 
This version had five items listed with property ‘B’ no longer 
appearing. Members questioned why this was no longer 
included. 

o Officers advised that a decision regarding property ‘B’ 
had been made between the publication dates of the 
two planners. This decision was now effective and had 
therefore been removed from the most recent Key 
Decision Plan.  

• Under ‘purpose of decision’, property ‘A’ referred to acquisition 
of a second-hand property, whilst the others just referred to 

 

Page 6



- 3 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 21 
September 2021 

 

 

acquisition of property. Members sought clarification as to 
whether property ‘A’ was the only second-hand property. 

o Officers clarified that the proposal for the Rough 
Sleepers Accommodation Programme was that the 
authority would purchase second-hand properties, and 
the probability was that this would be the case. 
However, officers had not yet identified all of the 
properties and therefore they could potentially be either 
new or second-hand. 

• The five remaining items on the Key Decision Planner had 
decision dates of 30 September 2021. The Planner that had 
been considered at Performance Monitoring Panel had a date 
of 31 August 2021 against them. Members queried as to 
whether these were the same properties or additional 
properties. 

o Officers advised that the five remaining items on the 
Planner referred to the same decisions as the Planner 
considered by PMP. 

• As the properties had not been identified yet, members 
questioned whether a decision could realistically be made 
before the end of September 2021 and whether this allowed 
time for consultation with members.  

o Officers advised that around 30 properties had been 
viewed so far and ward member consultation was 
taking place. This information was being collated for 
presentation to the Housing Delivery Steering Group 
and the relevant Portfolio Holder for Assets and 
Planning would make a decision in due course. It was 
possible that a decision could be published by 30 
September 2021, however, it was also possible that this 
could overrun. 

 

AGREED: 
 
That the Key Decision Plan be noted.  

   

10. POLICY REGISTER   

  

 The Panel gave consideration to the Policy Register.  
 
The Chairman acknowledged that due to the pandemic the Policy 
Register had been delayed and looked forward to receiving an 
updated version at the November meeting.  
 

AGREED: 
 
That the Policy Register be noted. 
 

 

Page 7



- 4 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 21 
September 2021 

 

 

  
   

11. STREET NAMING AND NUMBERING POLICY   

  

 Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for 
Assets and Planning and the Assistant Director Communities and 
Operations to consider the revised Street Naming and Numbering 
Policy. 
 
The Committee received the update to the Street Naming and 
Numbering Policy which stated that earlier engagement would be 
sought with parishes and ward members regarding the naming of 
development sites in their areas and that suggestions would be 
relayed to developers before naming decisions had taken place. 

 
The following key points were raised:  

• Members stated that decisions regarding the naming of 
developments still remained with the developer and could 
not be enforced by the council.  

o Officers advised that whilst it was acknowledged 
that the council could not legally enforce naming 
and numbering decisions upon developers, it was 
hoped that early engagement in the process would 
be influential. 

• Members stated that the collation of a list of names linked 
to local history would be welcomed by developers who 
needed to make naming decisions early.  

o Officers replied that the aim of the policy was to be 
helpful to developers at an early stage but also to 
provide clarity for the emergency services. 

• Members commented that as the list of names would be 
available to multiple developers simultaneously, a process 
needed to be in place at an early stage to manage 
expectations and avoid duplications. 

o Officers confirmed that checks would be made early 
in the process when applications were submitted to 
avoid duplications. Officers were well equipped to 
manage challenging conversations with developers 
should this arise. 

 
AGREED: 
 
That the Policy Development Panel noted the amendment of the 
Street naming and Numbering Policy and recommended its 
adoption.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CB  

   

12. HRA HOUSING DELIVERY FRAMEWORK   

  

Page 8



- 5 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 21 
September 2021 

 

 

 Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director – 
Strategy & Resource, which introduced an HRA Housing Delivery 
Framework to inform future investment decisions for the HRA 
Capital Programme relating to housing development. 
 
The officer for Head of Delivery – Strategic Housing introduced 
the new framework and shared a presentation with members to 
explain the key points, which detailed: 

• the purpose of the policy which provided a clear framework 
and filled a policy vacuum;  

• an overview of the benefits of the framework which served 
to create certainty around which projects should be 
considered for delivery;  

• an overview of the delivery models which would be within 
scope;  

• the guiding principles to assist SHDC when considering 
which proposals to move forward; 

• budgetary implications; and confirmation that ward 
consultations would take place prior to each decision 

 

Consideration was given by Members, and the following 
comments were made:   

• The new policy was welcomed; 

• Members asked whether the skill set to deliver the strategy 
existed within the council.  

o Officers were confident that the skill set existed 
within the fully staffed team and relevant experience 
was held in all required areas. 

• Clarity was requested as to where the consideration of 
infrastructure and amenities sat within the framework when 
selecting properties for residents. 

o Officers clarified that this area would be considered 
under the framework’s guiding principles relating to 
location and would include consultations with ward 
members; evidence bases of housing allocations to 
inform where people wanted to live, considering 
amenities such as schools; and housing 
management regarding sustainability. It was agreed 
that consideration of amenities and infrastructure 
needed to be strengthened within the next iteration 
of the framework. 

• Where groups of properties were purchased, the issue of 
ground maintenance needed to be considered. 

o Officers advised that ground maintenance varied on 
a site-by-site basis depending on whether the 
council owned part or all of the site or whether it was 
a Section 106 site. It was agreed that a statement 
regarding ground maintenance would be added. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CH  

Page 9



- 6 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 21 
September 2021 

 

 

 
AGREED: 
 
That comments regarding the HRA Housing Delivery Framework 
be noted, and approval given to be taken forward to Cabinet on 
26 October 2021   

   

13. SHDC MOBILE HOMES AND CARAVAN SITE LICENSING 
 AND FEE POLICY  

 

  

 Consideration was given to the report of the Assistant Director – 
Housing, which proposed Mobile Homes and Caravan site 
licencing and the proposed introduction of a fee-charging 
structure for eligible administration connected with the policy. 
 
Officers gave some context and an overview of the policy, which 
included: 

• clarification that no prevailing policies existed for caravans 
and mobile homes and that this was the introduction of a 
new policy. 

• that The Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 
1960 was the primary legislation which related to the issue 
of site licences, which for the purpose of the new policy, 
dealt with sites where planning permission had already 
been approved; the legislation had been amended by the 
Mobile Homes Act 2013 to increase standards across 
mobile homes, park sites and caravan sites; recent 
legislation enabled fees to be charged for ‘relevant 
protected sites’, and allowed councils to introduce a 
charging mechanism for the administration of the ‘Fit and 
Proper Person’ register, which Local Authorities were 
required to maintain for mobile homes’ site managers. 

• 640 licenced caravans existed in the district, located 
across 50 licenced sites.  ‘Relevant protected sites’ related 
to residential parks, mobile home parks, and gypsy and 
traveller sites. It was anticipated that 10 sites in the district 
would receive this classification. A licence was required for 
all other sites as stated in the 1960 act. Exceptions were 
listed in 4.3 of the policy. 

• A summary of fees was included in the policy and detailed 
in the appendix.  

 
Councillors considered the new policy and made the following 
comments:  
 

• Confirmation was requested as to whether the fixed fees 
charged to site owners solely reflected the recovery of 
actual costs or whether any income could be generated.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 10



- 7 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 21 
September 2021 

 

 

o The officer confirmed that under the Department for 
Communities and Local Government guidance, fees 
charged were restricted to the recovery of costs 
regarding staff time for administering the issue of 
licences. Fees were benchmarked with other 
Lincolnshire authorities, but a suggested review 
period could be incorporated to enable amendments 
where these adhered to guidelines. Related work 
was already being actioned by officers without 
charge so the introduction of this policy would lead 
to extra income generation.  

• Members requested the inclusion of a caveat to enable the 
charging of extra fees in order to cover increased costs 
should an individual application become protracted. 

o The officer confirmed that Members’ comments 
regarding charges were acknowledged and would 
feed into the review of the next stage of the policy. 

• Members asked whether consultation had taken place with 
existing site owners regarding the policy. 

o Officers advised that whilst consultation had not 
taken place, site owners had been advised of the 
legislation changes in writing and had been made 
aware of the new information required by SHDC to 
achieve the necessary ‘Fit and Proper Person’ 
status. Most sites in the district were well 
established and officers had a good relationship with 
owners. 

• Members asked whether Gypsy and Traveller sites were 
included in the policy. 

o The officer confirmed that Gypsy and Traveller sites 
were classed as ‘relevant protected sites’ and would 
be subject to site licences if planning permission 
was held. 

• Members queried the fundamental difference between an 
‘Amendment to a Licence’ and a ‘Transfer of a Licence’, 
charged at £142.93 and £83.94 respectively. 

o The officer advised that he would investigate this 
point and respond outside of the meeting. 

• Members asked if there was a schedule which specified 
‘imminent risk of serious harm’ as stated in point 3.5 of the 
policy. 

o Officers confirmed that the definition relating to 
caravans and mobile homes was uncertain due to 
the associated legislation falling within the 
Environment Act. Officers applied the Housing 
Health and Safety rating system as a benchmark 
when assessing hazards in caravans and mobile 
homes.  

 
 
 
 
JK  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
JK  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
JK  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 11



- 8 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 21 
September 2021 

 

 

• Members replied that should action be taken because of 
‘imminent risk of serious harm’, that a clear definition of this 
would be helpful to mitigate dispute and therefore aid 
recovery of costs.  

o In pursuit of their duties, authorised officers relied on 
the protection of prevailing legislation when making 
decisions regarding action. Issues were discussed 
with the landowner/responsible person before action 
was taken. It was recognised that this was unclear 
and therefore agreement was made to include a 
bulleted list of examples regarding ‘imminent risk of 
serious harm’. 

 
AGREED: 
 

a) That feedback from the SHDC Mobile Homes and Caravan 
Site Licensing and Fee Policy be noted and approval given 
to be taken forward to Cabinet on 26 October 2021.   

 
b) That the policy be reviewed one year after adoption.  

 
 
JK, CG, AT  

   

14. MARKET CONSULTATION OUTCOME   

  

 The Head of Environmental and Operational Services and the 
Environmental Services Business Support Manager provided the 
panel with a presentation concerning the Market Consultation 
Outcome.  
 

The update included consultation period feedback from 
stakeholders, market traders and other interested parties 
regarding: a new Markets Regulations handbook; a proposed new 
fee structure; the current and future position of the markets. 

 
The six-week consultation period ended on 30 July 2021 and 
utilised a broad range of methods to obtain the widest possible 
response, including: in person consultation at market stalls which 
members also attended; consultation at community centres; 
postal and email surveys; information circulated to the press and 
social media channels. 

 

207 responses were received of which 192 were survey 
responses and 15 were substantial written responses.   
 
Alongside the presentation, officers gave an overview of the 
survey responses, which included the following key points: 

• 86% of responders were residents of the district, 6% were 
traders; 

• 74% of those surveyed visited once per week;  

 

Page 12



- 9 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 21 
September 2021 

 

 

• Spalding markets were the most attended with 120 visits; 
33 for Crowland; 45 for Holbeach; and 68 for Long Sutton; 

• The main reason given for visits to the market was the 
outdoor shopping experience but during their visit to town 
centres people also patronised other shops and socialised;  

• Saturday markets were the most popular; 

• Spalding market benefited from incidental footfall; 

• Visitors stated they liked to support the range of local 
traders but wanted an increased number and variety of 
stalls; 

• Other suggestions included pop-up stalls for prospective 
new traders; seating areas; and contactless payments; 

• Regarding the handbook update: the survey proposed the 
display of Food Standards Hygiene ratings for prepared 
food stalls: 73% of responders were in favour of this 
proposal;  

• A further handbook proposal asked whether traders should 
provide and set-up their own fit for purpose stall. The 
highest percentage had no response or opinion and a 
further 10% unsure. A quarter agreed and 16% disagreed. 
Concern was raised over what and who determined ‘fit for 
purpose’ and the impact this proposal would have on new 
businesses and disabled traders. These important points 
had been considered with mitigations in place which 
included opportunities for the provision of pop-up stalls and 
how public sector duties were met; 

• The survey requested feedback regarding the reduction of 
core market trading hours (from 9am to 3.30pm, to 9am to 
2pm) which had been supported by traders. Feedback 
suggested that people disagreed with this proposal: 17% 
were in agreement with the reduction; 34% disagreed; 29% 
had no opinion; 13% felt it was the traders’ decision. 
Concerns were raised by working people who could not 
visit during restricted opening hours and those who 
scheduled visits which coincided with the collection of 
children from school; 

• Almost half of responders either agreed or strongly agreed 
that the council should engage with traders through their 
appointed representatives. The consultation results were to 
be discussed with the established traders’ engagement 
group for feedback and consideration of options prior to the 
report to Cabinet in October. 
 
Recommendations to Cabinet would include: 

• Adoption of the Handbook; 

• Introduction of the new fee structure from 1 November 
2021; 

Page 13



- 10 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 21 
September 2021 

 

 

• Consideration of stall provision and duties under the 
Equality Act; 

• Potential introduction of pop-up stalls; and 

• Book and Pay markets. 
 

Members considered the presentation and made the following 
comments:  

• Members thanked the officers for their work on the 
consultation and stated their commitment to the markets;  

• Members who attended the market consultations were also 
thanked for their involvement in the process; 

• Members questioned the plans for further development, 
specifically relating to engagement and growth of the 
markets beyond the current recommendations due to be 
presented to Cabinet.  

o Officers replied that the consultation was the first 
development step and that there would be further 
growth options within the upcoming Cabinet report, 
including: proposed investment to drive the markets 
forward; do nothing and maintain the status quo. 
Benchmarking opportunities with other markets 
were considered key for future growth, as was the 
continuation of the relationship with the National 
Association for British Markets Authorities (NABMA) 
which had SHDC member involvement.  

• Members asked whether demographic data could be 
retrieved from the survey results, specifically relating to 
which age groups had and had not engaged, to inform 
future activity. 

o Officers confirmed that age data was captured and a 
very specific age group of 50+ had responded.  

o Officers also stated that the markets consultation 
would contribute to the wider work carried out by the 
two Town Centre steering groups which served to 
strengthen the overall health of main towns in the 
district, including a focus on markets. 

• Members asked what work was being undertaken to attract 
under 50s to markets? 

o Officers advised that the market visitor data analysis 
was new but results would feed into future activity 
plans to engage a wider demographic, including 
relating to the variety of stalls. A package of further 
initiatives was being considered, including: 

▪ working with Young Market Traders 
Representatives;  

▪ a continuation of Spalding Steering Group 
discussions and planning with Boston 
College representatives who had expressed 

Page 14



- 11 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 21 
September 2021 

 

 

a strong interest for students to access pop-
up stalls as an introduction to potential 
market trade careers;  

▪ a sharing of expert industry knowledge from a 
Small Business Federation representative 
who also sat on the Spalding Retail and 
Independent Offer Steering Group. This 
contact had been involved with a thriving 
young student market and SHDC was looking 
to set up an activity plan around this model.  

• Members stated that their upcoming visit to the NABMA 
conference with the Town Centre Improvement Plan 
Coordinator would include knowledge sharing and 
discussions with experts in youth and specialist markets to 
help shape ideas for SHDC. It was stated that presentable 
and attractive stalls were important as they encouraged 
greater footfall and spend which in turn attracted more 
shops and traders. 

• Members asked what was being done to widen the variety 
of stalls as requested by survey responders.  

o Officers confirmed that they continually worked on 
trying to attract a variety of traders to the markets. 
For this work to progress further it was recognised 
that a consultation was required to understand the 
motivations of visitors and analyse footfall data. Now 
complete, the consultation feedback would inform 
future action to attract a variety of traders and 
increase footfall. The work with the steering groups 
in relation to markets was also key. 

• Members stated that pop-up stalls were discussed last 
year and asked what had happened during this period and 
why this had been delayed. 

o Officers advised that pop-up stalls were purchased 
and trialled, but implementation was strategically 
delayed for the consultation and essential regulatory 
work for the new Markets Handbook to take place. 
The consultation feedback captured strong local 
support for pop-up stalls and officers now hoped to 
move forward with this initiative with the aim of 
attracting new traders and micro-businesses without 
investment risk to them. 

• Regarding equalities and store provision, councillors 
questioned whether assistance would be in place for 
traders who were not physically able to set-up their stalls. 
Councillors stated that any remedy would be subject to 
additional cost. 

o Officers advised that The Equalities Act 2010 
ensured that local authority public services were 

Page 15



- 12 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 21 
September 2021 

 

 

delivered to the population as a whole to ensure that 
no-one would be disadvantaged in respect of 
disability, age or gender. The market consultation 
included an associated Equality Impact Assessment 
to identify potential breaches of this duty. A few risks 
were identified and work relating to provision had 
commenced to ensure mitigations were in place for 
those who identified a need.  

• Members who attended markets during the consultation 
relayed observations and verbal responses from customers 
and traders: Regarding Food Hygiene Standards, 
councillors questioned whether this would add a barrier to 
new start-ups. It was understood that traders must comply 
with hygiene legislation, however this needed to be 
approached with a sympathetic view; new traders needed 
to be incentivised; traders and customers criticised the 
layouts of the markets specifically relating to the 
inconsistency of where stalls were pitched, including issues 
with traffic and parked vehicles; some of the issues had 
affected the return and retention of stall holders; the 
placement of markets in close proximity to car parks was 
beneficial; the signposting of markets could be improved. 

• Members commented that the sharing of best practice from 
Long Sutton Market would be beneficial as most 
responders had visited the town specifically for outdoor 
market shopping; 

• Survey responder bias needed to be considered when 
conclusions were drawn from the consultation feedback 
analysis. Opinions of non-visitors were also important to 
inform what would persuade them to visit in the future; 

• Members questioned the current incentives for traders: 
pop-up stalls were likely to result in an increased number 
and wider variety of stall holders; it was felt that the 
provision of free stalls had been counterproductive as 
traders were not committed to attend; suggested incentives 
included the provision of pre-booked and pre-paid stalls. 

• Improvements to the promotion of markets was needed 
including a public relations strategy across both digital and 
traditional formats. 

o Officers advised that a small element of marketing 
had been built into the new fee structure included in 
the consultation. Officers had recently worked 
closely with the Communications Team to obtain 
interviews with traders for social media but more 
work needed to be done. 

• Members reminded the Panel that previous changes had 
occurred to the markets due to the £77,000 per year cost, 
and that any future changes needed to be realistic;  

Page 16



- 13 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 21 
September 2021 

 

 

• Members asked what communications had occurred with 
traders who had not returned since the Covid reopening; 
and if none, for this to happen. 

o Officers advised that resources had been focussed 
on the current traders however they would 
investigate whether contact details were held for 
previous traders so this could be moved forward. 

• Members acknowledged that with competition from global 
online stores, markets needed to become relevant in the 
modern world with the offer of speciality products not 
readily available to the mass market online. 
Encouragement was needed, whether through free stalls or 
other incentives to avoid traditional market stalls falling 
away. 

o Officers agreed that whilst markets could not 
compete with online sellers, the benefits of the 
physical selection of goods and the social element 
attached to visiting markets could not be 
experienced online. A balance was therefore 
required. Incentives were important but they needed 
to be the right ones. Whilst free markets had 
improved traders’ attendance at some markets, it 
had not increased footfall. A better understanding of 
visitors’ wishes through the consultation results 
would help to drive this forward. 

• Members commented that young people did not consider 
that markets were relevant to them. To attract young 
people, stalls needed the offer of speciality consumables, 
such as cheeses, meats and breads and not items that 
were readily available online. 

• Members asked whether a Christmas Craft Market would 
be offered as this would attract new traders who may then 
book regular weekly markets. 

o Officers confirmed that a Christmas market was 
planned however attracting a variety of stallholders 
for Christmas markets was challenging as specialist 
crafters book months in advance at larger markets 
with higher footfalls.  

 
AGREED: 
 
That comments relating to the Market Consultation Outcome be 
noted, and approval given to be taken forward to Cabinet on 26 
October 2021   

   

15. POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL WORK PROGRAMME   

  

 The Panel considered a report by the Executive Manager  

Page 17



- 14 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 21 
September 2021 

 

 

Governance, which set out the work programme of the Panel.  
The work programme consisted of two sections, the first setting 
out the dates of future panel meetings along with proposed items 
for consideration, and the second setting out Task Groups that 
had been identified by the Panel. 
 
Members considered the report, and the following issues were 
raised: 
 
Future consideration of policies 
Following discussion of the Policy Register earlier in the meeting 
the following items were requested to come forward to the 
November meeting.  Reports and policies were required for:  

• The Corporate Enforcement Policy;  

• The FOI Policy;  

• The Data Protection Policy;  

• The ICT Incident and Management Policy; and 

• The Employee Access Policy;  
 
Verbal updates were required for:  

• The Industrial Units Letting Policy; and 

• The Asset Management Strategy Policy 
 
Untidy Sites 
Members and officers provided a brief  update on the work that 
had been undertaken between officers, and Councillors Booth 
and Redgate on this issue.  It was confirmed that a Policy 
document handbook was planned, to outline a consistent 
approach in dealing with these sites, and that this would be 
considered at the November meeting.  
 
Task Groups update: 

• Planning Design and Community Infrastructure Task Groups: 
The Chairman confirmed that he had discussed progress of 
this Task Group with the Head of Planning however, there was 
nothing further to report as the White Paper on Planning 
Reform was still proceeding through Parliament. 

• Membership of a new Joint South Holland Centre Task Group 
was discussed. At the meeting of PMP on 8 September 2021, 
the number of councillors who had put their names forward to 
sit on the Task Group had reduced from 9 to 7 and it had been 
agreed that 5 members would be sufficient.  In addition, 
Councillor Newton would attend as a co-optee.  It had been 
agreed at the meeting that the Chairmen of both scrutiny 
panels would find a way forward to select the 5 members – 
Councillor Woolf advised that the membership would consist 
of the two Chairmen (both himself and Councillor Alcock), a 
member from each Panel that sat on only the one Panel (this 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DH, AT  
CG, JS, AT  
AT  
AT, JW  
AT, JW  
 
 
 
 
RH, AT  
RH, AT, 
MW  
 
RH, AT  

Page 18



- 15 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 21 
September 2021 

 

 

was confirmed as Councillor Wilkinson on PMP and Councillor 
Biggadike on PDP), and the fifth member who sat on both 
Panels.  Both Councillors Walsh and Redgate sat on both 
Panels, and following a vote, Councillor Redgate became the 
final member of the Task Group.   The membership of the 
South Holland Centre Task Group was therefore confirmed as 
Councillors Alcock, Woolf, Biggadike, Wilkinson and Redgate. 

 
AGREED: 
 
That the Work Programme be noted  

   

16. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE 
 URGENT.  

 

  

 There were none.  

   

 
 
 
(The meeting ended at 8.27 pm) 
 
(End of minutes) 
 
 
 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



 
1 

 

 

    

KEY DECISION PLAN 
 

Issued – 1 November 2021 

  

 

Representations in respect of all the matters shown should be sent in writing, at least one week before the date or period the decision 
is likely to be made, to:  

 Democratic Services, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE 
Telephone: 01775 764451 Fax: 01775 711253 Email: demservices@sholland.gov.uk 

 

The Key Decision Plan shows all Key decisions that the Council is likely to make over the next twelve months 
 
The Key Decision Plan is updated on a rolling basis and shows the decisions that will be considered and the date when the decision is 
expected to be made. In accordance with the Council’s Constitution the DECISIONS detailed within this document, unless otherwise 
stated, come into force and may then be implemented on the expiry of a 5 working day call-in period  from the date of publication of 
any decision.   
 
Key decisions are: “A decision which, in relation to an executive function, has a significant effect on communities in two or more 
Wards of the Council and / or is likely to result in the Authority incurring expenditure, generating income or making savings in any 
single financial year above the threshold of £75,000 in respect of revenue expenditure and £180,000 in respect of capital expenditure.” 
 
Significant decisions are: 1. A decision made in connection with setting the Council Tax; 2. A decision to approve any matter relating 
to a Policy or Strategic Plan; 3. Any non-Executive decision which significantly affects the community in two or more wards or electoral 
divisions. Some of the decisions will be recommendations to full Council, particularly if they impact on the Budget and the Policy 
Framework (comprising of statutory plans and strategies) 
 

PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION 

P
age 21

A
genda Item

 7.

mailto:demservices@sholland.gov.uk


PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION 

 
2 

 

Portfolio Holder 
for Assets & 
Planning 
 
Proposed Sale of 
Former Depot 
Site at Fleet 
Road Holbeach 
 

Report setting out recommendations 
relating to the proposed disposal by 
private treaty of this former depot site 
in Holbeach. 

 

 
 
 
 

 Portfolio Holder for Assets 
& Planning, or Leader 
 
Not before 9th Nov 2021 
 

Portfolio Holder 
for Assets & 
Planning 
 
SHDC Land 
Sites Project 
 

To appoint a consultant to provide 
Employer's Agent Services to progress 
a number of land assets owned by 
SHDC to explore the potential to 
provide housing for the district.  

 

 
 
 
 

 Assistant Director - 
Strategic Growth and 
Development, or any other 
officer with delegation 
 
Not before 24th Nov 2021 
 

Portfolio Holder 
for Assets & 
Planning 
 
SHDC Land 
Sites Project 
 

To appoint a consultant to provide 
Architectural Services to progress a 
number of land assets owned by 
SHDC, to explore the potential to 
provide housing for the district. 
 

 
 
 
 

 Assistant Director - 
Strategic Projects, or any 
other officer with 
delegation 
 
Not before 24th Nov 2021 
 

P
age 22



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION 

 
3 

 

Portfolio Holder 
for Assets & 
Planning 
 
Acquisition 
project to 
purchase s106 
rented units 
 

To seek approval to commit capital to 
purchase s106 rented dwellings. 

 

 
 
 
 

 Cabinet 14 Dec 2021, or 
Leader 
 
South Holland District 
Council 19 Jan 2022 
 

Portfolio Holder 
for Public 
Protection 
 
Corporate 
Enforcement 
Policy 
 

To seek feedback on the revised 
corporate enforcement policy prior to 
seeking Cabinet approval 
 

 
 
 
 

 Cabinet 14 Dec 2021, or 
Leader 
 

Portfolio Holder 
for Communities 
& Facilities 
 
Implications from 
Covid-19 on the 
leisure operating 
contract 
 

To assess the impact of Covid-19 on 
the leisure operating contract 

 

 
 
 
 

 Cabinet 14 Dec 2021, or 
Leader 
 
South Holland District 
Council 19 Jan 2022 
 

P
age 23



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION 

 
4 

 

Portfolio Holder 
for HRA & 
Private Sector 
Housing 
 
Fire door and 
Compliance 
contract 
 

Fire door replacement and associated 
fire compliance works to sheltered 
schemes 
 

 
 
 
 

 Assistant Director – 
Housing, or any other 
officer with delegation 
  
Before 31 Dec 2021 
 

Portfolio Holder 
for Assets & 
Planning 
 
Property 
acquisition to 
support Housing 
Options service 
delivery (A) 
 

Acquisition of a second hand property. 
 

 
 
 
 

 Portfolio Holder for Assets 
& Planning, or Leader  
 
Before 31 Jan 2022 
 

Portfolio Holder 
for Assets & 
Planning 
 
Property 
acquisition to 
support Housing 
Options service 
delivery (E) 
 

Acquisition of property 
 

 
 
 
 

 Portfolio Holder for Assets 
& Planning, or Leader  
 
Before 31 Jan 2022 
 

P
age 24



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION 

 
5 

 

Portfolio Holder 
for Assets & 
Planning 
 
Property 
acquisition to 
support Housing 
Options service 
delivery (F) 
 

Acquisition of property 
 

 
 
 
 

 Portfolio Holder for Assets 
& Planning, or Leader  
 
Before 31 Jan 2022 
 

 
 
 

*Cabinet Membership 

The Lord Porter of Spalding CBE (Leader) 
Councillor C N Worth (Deputy Leader of the Council) 
Councillor P E Coupland (Deputy Leader) 
Councillor J Astill (Portfolio Holder 
Councillor A Casson (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor R Gambba-Jones (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor R Grocock (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor C J Lawton (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor E J Sneath (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor G J Taylor (Portfolio Holder) 
 
 

 
If you have any comments or queries regarding any of the entries in the Key Decision Plan please contact: 

 
Democratic Services, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE 
Telephone: 01775 764451 Fax: 01775 711253 Email: demservices@sholland.gov.uk 

P
age 25

mailto:demservices@sholland.gov.uk


 
6 

 

 

P
age 26



1 

SHDC Policy Register 
 

 

 

 

Rows are sorted by End Date 
 

Policy Title Policy Type Can Policy be 
influenced 
(flexible 
scope) 

Approved Date Policy Review 
Cycle  

End Date Policy 
Status  

Latest Update Policy Owner Policy 
Location 

Final Approval 
Panel 

Asset Management 
Strategy 

Constitutional Yes 18-Jun-2014 5 years 18-Jun-2019 Due for 
review 

Policy owner is due to provide verbal update to PDP 
in November 
 
A revised date for commencing the drafting of the full 
Asset Management Strategy (AMS) was to be Q1 
2021 delayed on the basis that COVID has impacted 
many of our assets. Data collection has commenced 
and the proposed structure of the document 
developed. However, with lockdown and various 
regulations continuing through the Summer, some 
operational assets have remained closed, in the 
case of South Holland Centre until late July and 
Ayscoughee Museum September. Given this the 
time has not been right to progress a meaningful 
AMS.  
 

Marc Whelan 
/Richard Hodgson 

  

ICT Incident 
Management 

Non-Statutory Yes 21-Jan-2020 Annual 19-
Feb02021 

In Review This policy is in final draft having had Data protection 
officer input and will be submitted to SHDC 
management team for approval this month, it is then 
intended this will be presented to PDP in January 
2022. This will also allow time for the new Senior 
Leadership Team from the S&ELCP Partnership to 
also sign off the policies based on the new 
governance arrangements recently introduced.  

Jackie Wright 
(PSPS) 

 Policy 
Development 
Panel 

Employee Access 
Policy 

Non-statutory Yes 21-JAN-2020 Annual 19-FEB-
2021 

In review This policy is in final draft having had Data protection 
officer input and will be submitted to management 
team for approval this month, it is then intended this 
will be presented to PDP in January 2022. This will 
also allow time for the new Senior Leadership Team 
from the S&ELCP Partnership to also sign off the 
policies based on the new governance 

Jackie Wright 
(PSPS) 

 Policy 
Development 
Panel 

P
age 27

A
genda Item

 8.



2 

Policy Title Policy Type Can Policy be 
influenced 
(flexible 
scope) 

Approved Date Policy Review 
Cycle  

End Date Policy 
Status  

Latest Update Policy Owner Policy 
Location 

Final Approval 
Panel 

arrangements recently introduced. 

Corporate Plan Constitutional Yes 08-Mar-2018 1 year 01-Mar-
2021 

In Review The work to review the corporate plan has started 
and the proposed document will be coming forward 
for member consideration in due course. The work 
on the corporate plan is being pursued with an eye 
to the emerging work around the wider strategic 
partnership. 

Matthew Hogan   

Data Protection 
Policy 

Statutory No 29-May-2018 3 years 29-May-
2021 

Ready for 
approval 

Policy has been updated/amended, policy owner will 
be bringing to upcoming November PDP 

Kirsty Mallett   

Corporate 
Enforcement Policy 

Non Statutory Yes 29-May-2018 3 years 29-May-
2021 

In Review Policy has been updated/amended, policy owner will 
be bringing to upcoming November PDP 

Donna Hall   

Freedom of 
Information Policy 

Statutory No 26-Jun-2018 3 years 26-Jun-2021 Due for 
review 

South Holland District Council will be taking part in 
the opportunity to review a suite of Legislative and 
Statutory Policies such as the FOI Policy to 
ascertain the advantage of having aligned policies 
across all 3 councils in the S&ELCP Partnership. 
That review is likely to be completed during Q4 of 
2021/22 financial year. A progress update will be 
provided at the next PDP panel in January 2022 with 
regards to either a new or refreshed FOI Policy for 
South Holland District Council. 

Mark Stinson   

Corporate Debt 
Policy - Accounting 
Services 

Non Statutory Yes 25-Jul-2017 3 years 25-Jul-2021 Due for 
Review 

This will be reviewed in the next 6 months, with 
implementation for any revised policy from April 
2022. 
The current policy remains valid. 

Samantha 
Knowles/Sharon 
Hammond 

 TBC 

Industrial Units 
Letting Policy 

Non Statutory No 27-Oct-2020 1 Year 01-Sep-
2021 

Due for 
Review 

Policy owner is due to provide verbal update to PDP 
in November 
 

Richard Hodgson   

Safeguarding Policy Statutory No 20-Nov-2018 3 years 01-Nov-
2021 

Approved  Emily Holmes   

Unreasonable 
Behaviour and 
vexatious requests 

Non Statutory Yes 21-Nov-2017 3 years 21-Nov-
2021 

In Review South Holland District Council will be taking part in 
the opportunity to review a suite of Legislative and 
Statutory Policies such as the Vexatious Policy to 
ascertain the advantage of having aligned policies 
across all 3 councils in the S&ELCP Partnership. 
That review is likely to be completed during Q4 of 
2021/22 financial year. A progress update will be 
provided at the next PDP panel in January 2022 with 
regards to either a new or refreshed FOI Policy for 

Mark Stinson   

P
age 28



3 

Policy Title Policy Type Can Policy be 
influenced 
(flexible 
scope) 

Approved Date Policy Review 
Cycle  

End Date Policy 
Status  

Latest Update Policy Owner Policy 
Location 

Final Approval 
Panel 

South Holland District Council. 

Gambling Policy - 
Statement of 
Principles 

Constitutional Yes 28-Nov-2018 3 years 28-Nov-
2021 
 

In Review This policy is going to the Committee of the 
Licensing Authority Mid November and full Council in 
December. It has been agreed this policy doesn’t 
need it to go to PDP, mainly because its only minor 
changes and is being scrutinised by Licensing 
Committee. 

Donna Hall   

Housing Tenancy 
Management Policy 

Statutory Yes 15-Dec-2020 1 Year 15-Dec-
2021 

Approved  Vikki Cherry   

Records 
Management Policy 

  Yes   3 years 01-Jan-2022 Approved  Kirsty Mallett   

HR Policy Handbook Non Statutory Yes 18-Jan-2021 3 years 18-Jan-2022 Approved The policy handbook will be reviewed early 2022, a 
clause states in this handbook that unless significant 
changes are made then this policy handbook does 
not need to be reviewed by Committee, as there will 
be no significant changes the HR manager does not 
feel a review will be required. However the panel will 
be notified when the review is complete. 

Claire Burton Corey need 
a new owner 

 

Strategic Tenancy 
Policy 

Statutory No 01-Feb-2019 3 years 01-Feb-
2022 

Approved Caroline Hannon Attended PDP  in Feb where it was 
agreed to go to Senior Officers to determine the 
appetite for reviewing, the Panel were satisfied that 
officers would determine if there was an appetite for 
this. 
 
All councils are told to have a strategic tenancy 
policy, but this isn’t one that needs a formal review 
at this stage 

Matthew Hogan   

Anti-Social 
Behaviour Policy 

Statutory Yes 01-May-2019 3 years 01-Mar-
2022 

Approved The ASB Policy has been approved, as it is currently 
that of the Lincolnshire County Council one. The 
County one is currently out for consultation as it has 
been updated in line with new recommendations 
from the victims commissioner, any updated on this 
will be fed through to PDP 

Dee Bedford   

Capital Strategy Constitutional Yes 03-Mar-2021 1 year 03-Mar-
2022 

Approved Approved by full council in March 2021 (Annual 
review as part of budget setting Process) 

Samantha 
Knowles 

Part of 
council 
papers 

Full Council 

Fees and Charges 
Policy  

Constitutional Yes 03-Mar-2021 1 year 03-Mar-
2022 

Approved Approved by full council in Feb 2021 (Annual review 
as part of budget setting Process) 

Samantha 
Knowles 

Part of 
council 
papers 

Full Council 

P
age 29



4 

Policy Title Policy Type Can Policy be 
influenced 
(flexible 
scope) 

Approved Date Policy Review 
Cycle  

End Date Policy 
Status  

Latest Update Policy Owner Policy 
Location 

Final Approval 
Panel 

Medium Term 
Financial Strategy 

Constitutional No 03-Mar-2021 1 year 03-Mar-
2022 

Approved Approved by full council in Feb 2021 (Annual review 
as part of budget setting Process) 

Samantha 
Knowles 

Part of 
council 
papers 

Full Council 

Treasury 
Management 
Strategy (Includes 
Statement and 
Clauses) 

Constitutional No 03-Mar-2021 1 year 03-Mar-
2022 

Approved Approved by full council in Feb 2020 (Annual review 
as part of budget setting Process) 

Samantha 
Knowles 

Part of 
council 
papers 

Full Council 

Minimum Revenue 
Provision Policy 
Statement 

Constitutional No 03-Mar-2021 1 year 03-Mar-
2022 

Approved Approved by full council in Feb 2020 (Annual review 
as part of budget setting Process) 

Samantha 
Knowles 

Part of 
council 
papers 

Full Council 

Affordable Housing 
Policy 

Non Statutory Yes 01-Jan-2009 3 years 01-Apr-2022 Approved This Policy has approved within the Local Plan, It 
has been agreed there doesn't need to be a 
separate housing strategy, this has now been 
formally adopted in line with the Local Plan 

Matthew Hogan   

Taxi Licensing 
Policy 

Non Statutory Yes 01-Jun-2019 3 years 01-Jun-2022 Approved  Donna Hall   

Housing Allocations 
and Letting Policy 

Statutory Yes 27-Apr-2021 1 years 27-Apr-2022 Approved This policy has been approved by PDP and Cabinet Vikki Cherry  Cabinet 

Sexual 
Establishments 
Policy Statement 

Non Statutory Yes 06-Sep-2017 5 years 06-Sep-
2022 

Approved  
 

Donna Hall   

Constitution Statutory No 18-Jan-2018 1 year Ongoing Approved Changes continue to be made when and where 
necessary and agreed at Council on a regular basis. 

Rhonda Booth   

AHM Collections 
Development Policy 

Non Statutory No 01-Nov-2020 2 years 01-Nov-
2022 

Approved  Julia Knight   

AHM Collections 
Care and 
Conservation Policy 

Non Statutory No 01-Nov-2020 2 years 01-Nov-
2022 

Approved  Julia Knight   

Health & Safety 
Policy 

Statutory No 15-Dec-2020 3 years 15-Dec-
2023 

Approved This has been agreed by PSPS to be a 3 yearly 
policy review cycle in line with other organisations. 

Emily Ferrier; Nick 
Kendrick 

  

Counter Fraud and 
Corruption Policy 

Non Statutory Yes 11-Mar-2021 3 years 01-Mar-
2024 

Approved  Faye Haywood https://www.sh
olland.gov.uk/
article/5273/Pl
ans-Policies-
and-Strategies 

Governance and 
Audit 

Whistleblowing Statutory Yes 11-Mar-2021 3 years 01-Mar- Approved  Faye Haywood https://www.sh
olland.gov.uk/

Governance and 

P
age 30

https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/8GhCC7Lqqiz8xrni8SKY7?domain=sholland.gov.uk
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/8GhCC7Lqqiz8xrni8SKY7?domain=sholland.gov.uk
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/8GhCC7Lqqiz8xrni8SKY7?domain=sholland.gov.uk
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/8GhCC7Lqqiz8xrni8SKY7?domain=sholland.gov.uk
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/8GhCC7Lqqiz8xrni8SKY7?domain=sholland.gov.uk
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/8GhCC7Lqqiz8xrni8SKY7?domain=sholland.gov.uk
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/8GhCC7Lqqiz8xrni8SKY7?domain=sholland.gov.uk


5 

Policy Title Policy Type Can Policy be 
influenced 
(flexible 
scope) 

Approved Date Policy Review 
Cycle  

End Date Policy 
Status  

Latest Update Policy Owner Policy 
Location 

Final Approval 
Panel 

Policy - Confidential 
Reporting Code 

2024 article/5273/Pl
ans-Policies-
and-Strategies 

Audit 

Empty Homes 
Strategy 

Statutory Yes 27-Oct-2020 1 year 01-Mar-
2024 

Approved  Jason King  Cabinet 

Housing Assistance 
Policy 

Statutory Yes 27-Oct-2020 1 year 01-Mar-
2024 

Approved  Jason King  Cabinet 

Street Naming and 
Numbering Policy 

Statutory Yes 01-Nov-2021 3 years 01-Nov-
2024 

Approved  Clinton Bell   

Statement of 
Licensing Policy 

Constitutional Yes 07-Jan-2021 5 years 07-Jan-2026 Approved The statement of licensing policy has been revised 
and republished. Not due now until Jan 2026 

Donna Hall   

 
  

P
age 31

https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/8GhCC7Lqqiz8xrni8SKY7?domain=sholland.gov.uk
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/8GhCC7Lqqiz8xrni8SKY7?domain=sholland.gov.uk
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/8GhCC7Lqqiz8xrni8SKY7?domain=sholland.gov.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Report of: Mark Stinson, Assistant Director – Governance   

 

To: Policy Development Panel Tuesday, 16th November 2021 

 

(Author: Kirsty Porter, Information Governance Officer) 

 

Subject Data Protection Policy 

 

Purpose: To note the revised Data Protection Policy  

 

 
Recommendation(s):  
 
1) That the recommended revisions to the Data Protection Policy be noted, and; 
 
2) That, as in line with the delegation agreed at Cabinet on 29 May 2018, the Data Protection 

Officer make amendments to the Policy and Procedures so far as is necessary to reflect 
legislative changes, emerging guidance and to incorporate links to other relevant documents. 
 

 

 

1.0 BACKGROUND 

 

1.1 The Data Protection Policy was approved by Cabinet on the 29th May 2018, as follows: 

 

1. That the new draft Data Protection Policy, Data Security Breach Procedure and 

Response Procedures for Data Subject Requests be approved and adopted. 

 

2. That the Shared Executive Manager and Data Protection Officer be authorised to 

make amendments to the Policy and Procedures so far as is necessary to reflect 

legislative changes, emerging guidance and to incorporate links to other relevant 

documents. 

 

The Author has been appointed as Deputy Data Protection Officer in the Data Protection 

Officer’s absence. 

 

2.0 OPTIONS 

 

2.1 That the recommended revisions to the Data Protection Policy be noted; and 

2.2 That, as in line with the delegation agreed at Cabinet on 29 May 2018, the Data Protection 

Officer make amendments to the Policy and Procedures so far as is necessary to reflect 

legislative changes, emerging guidance and to incorporate links to other relevant 

documents.. 

 

 

 

2.3 Do Nothing 

 

Page 33

Agenda Item 9.



3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 

 

3.1 To ensure that the Council retains an updated fit-for-purpose Policy to assist in compliance 

with Data Protection 

 

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 

 

4.1 Data Protection legislation places a duty on all data controllers and data processors to deal 

with personal data in a lawful and diligent manner.  By reviewing and keeping the Data 

Protection Policy up to date the Authority is compliant with this requirement. 

 

5.0 IMPLICATIONS 

 

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 

decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;  

Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; 

Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 

Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; 

Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be 

implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified below. 

 

5.1 Constitutional & Legal 

5.1.1 Data Protection compliance is a legal requirement. Constitutionally, final approval of the 

Policy sits with the Cabinet, however approval was provided (as outlined at 1.1) for the 

Data Protection Officer to make amendments   

 

5.2 Contracts 

5.2.1 Data Protection places obligation on Data Controllers to impose data protection obligations 

on contractors 

 

5.3 Corporate Priorities 

5.3.1 Our Council: Continue to ensure that our regulatory and statutory services remain fully 

compliant with all current and emerging legislation 

 

5.4 Data Protection 

5.4.1 Explicit in this report   

 

5.5 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights 

5.5.1 Data Protection Policy confirms compliance with the legislation, which is to protect and 

represent everyone’s human rights and freedoms 

 

5.6 Financial 

5.6.1   Adoption of the Policy does not of itself have any financial implications. Clearly, compliance 

with data protection does have financial implications. 

 

 

5.7 Reputation 

5.7.1 A clear Data Protection Policy supports the Council with protecting its reputation 

 

5.8 Risk Management 

5.8.1 Having a robust Policy and associated procedures helps the Council to evidence 

Page 34



compliance (the ‘accountability principle’ under UK GDPR). This, together with proper use 

of the policy and procedures, will ensure that our data practices improve, and our level of 

risk reduces. 

 

5.9 Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales 

5.9.1 Data Protection compliance is a legal requirement.  This policy is due for review and as part 

of this process, the PDP has requested sight of the Policy for consideration.  

 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 

6.1 All 

 

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 UK GDPR – UK General Data Protection Regulation 

 

Background papers:-  

 

Lead Contact Officer 

Name and Post: Kirsty Porter, Information Governance Officer 

Telephone Number  

Email: kirsty.porter@breckland.gov.uk 

 

Key Decision: N  

 

Exempt Decision: N  

 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service  

 

Appendices attached to this report:  

Appendix A Data Protection Policy  

Appendix B    Data Security Breach Procedure 

Appendix C    Response procedures for data subject requests under GDPR 

 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



0

                                   
 

Data Protection Policy
DOCUMENT CONTROL SHEET

Document: Data Protection Policy Review period: 3 years

Owner: Kirsty Porter Title: Information Governance Officer

Reference: SHDC.V.1.2018 Document 
location:

Z:\Policies and Procedures\Data 
Protection Policy\SHDC Data Protection 
Policy

Date of last review: 29.05.2018 Date of next 
review:

29.05.2021

Review Date: 06.07.2021 – delayed 
owing to Covid19

Description of 
changes

‐Final paragraph of First Section added, with link: 
‘Further resources for staff can also be found internally on 
the Council’s Intranet’
‐Updated GDPR to UK GDPR, inc. definition 
throughout and web links updated 
‐EEC definition reduced from “28 Countries” to “27” 
(following Brexit)
‐5.3 Inclusion of paragraph: 

You should always check the Intranet (see earlier 
hyperlinks) for any guidelines on drafting Privacy 
Notices/Fair Processing Notices.

‐10.2 ‘Personal Data Breach protocol’ link removed 
(this was in the current online version and is being 
updated in any event.)
‐11(a) changes re: adequacy to include Japan and the 
UK
‐12. ‘Corporate Improvement and Performance 
team’ amended to ‘Feedback and Enquiries team’ 
(also updated within Appendices: Data Security 
Breach Procedure and Response procedures for data 
subjects requests under GDPR)

Reviewed by: Kirsty Porter Document 
location:

BDC Server: Legal (BCF01) (G:) DATA PROTECTION 
SHDC PoliciesandProcedures\Data Protection 
Policy\SHDC Data Protection Policy

Reference: SHDC.V.3.2021 Date of next 
review:

01.07.2023

Review Date: Description of 
changes

Reviewed by: Document 
location:

Page 37



1

Reference: Date of next 
review:

Contents

1.  INTERPRETATION..............................................................................................................................2

1.1  DEFINITIONS:................................................................................................................................2

2.  INTRODUCTION..................................................................................................................................4

3.  SCOPE.................................................................................................................................................4

4.  PERSONAL DATA PROTECTION PRINCIPLES ................................................................................5

5.  LAWFULNESS, FAIRNESS, TRANSPARENCY .................................................................................6

5.1 LAWFULNESS AND FAIRNESS.....................................................................................................6

5.2  CONSENT ......................................................................................................................................7

5.3  TRANSPARENCY (NOTIFYING DATA SUBJECTS).....................................................................7

6.  PURPOSE LIMITATION ......................................................................................................................7

7.  DATA MINIMISATION..........................................................................................................................8

8.  ACCURACY .........................................................................................................................................8

9.  STORAGE LIMITATION ......................................................................................................................8

10.  SECURITY INTEGRITY AND CONFIDENTIALITY ...........................................................................9

10.1 PROTECTING PERSONAL DATA................................................................................................9

10.2  REPORTING A PERSONAL DATA BREACH..............................................................................9

11.  TRANSFER LIMITATION.................................................................................................................10

12.  DATA SUBJECT’S RIGHTS AND REQUESTS ...............................................................................10

13.  ACCOUNTABILITY ..........................................................................................................................11

13.2  RECORD KEEPING ...................................................................................................................12

13.3  TRAINING AND AUDIT ..............................................................................................................12

13.4  PRIVACY BY DESIGN AND DATA PROTECTION IMPACT ASSESSMENT (DPIA) ...............12

13.5  AUTOMATED PROCESSING (INCLUDING PROFILING) AND AUTOMATED DECISION- 
MAKING ..............................................................................................................................................13

13.6  DIRECT MARKETING................................................................................................................14

13.7  SHARING PERSONAL DATA ....................................................................................................14

14.  CHANGES TO THIS POLICY ..........................................................................................................15

Page 38



2

South Holland District Council is committed to protecting the rights and privacy of all people with regard 
to the processing of personal data.  During the course of our activities we will collect, store and 
process personal information about our staff, customers, suppliers and other third parties.  We 
recognise the need to treat personal data in an appropriate and lawful manner and all processing will 
be conducted in accordance with this policy, the Data Protection Act 2018, the UK General Data 
Protection Regulation and any subsequent or amending legislation.

This Policy applies to all employees and members of South Holland District Council.  Any breach of 
this policy will be taken seriously and serious or persistent Personal Data Breaches may be considered 
to be a breach of the Members’ Code of Conduct or result in disciplinary action.  As a matter of good 
practice, other agencies and individuals working with the Council, who have access to personal 
information, will be expected to read and comply with this Policy.

This Policy is open to all internal and external stakeholders and is available to view on the Council’s 
website.

Users of this policy are encouraged to view further guidance that has been issued by the Information 
Commissioner’s Office (“ICO”). Guidance is available in many discrete areas (such as CCTV, data 
sharing and subject access rights). These guidance notes can be accessed from the following 
webpage: https://ico.org.uk/for‐organisations/guidance‐index/data‐protection‐and‐privacy‐and‐electronic‐
communications/

The ICO also has a guide specifically about the UK General Data Protection Regulation which can be 
found here:  https://ico.org.uk/for‐organisations/guide‐to‐the‐general‐data‐protection‐regulation‐UK GDPR/

Further resources for staff can also be found internally on the Council’s Intranet 

1.  INTERPRETATION  
 
1.1  DEFINITIONS:  
 

Automated Decision-Making (ADM):  when a decision is made which is based solely on Automated 
Processing (including profiling) which produces legal effects or significantly affects an individual. The UK 
GDPR prohibits Automated Decision-Making (unless certain conditions are met) but not Automated 
Processing.

Automated Processing:  any form of automated processing of Personal Data consisting of the use of 
Personal Data to evaluate certain personal aspects relating to an individual, in particular to analyse or 
predict aspects concerning that individual’s performance at work, economic situation, health, personal 
preferences, interests, reliability, behaviour, location or movements. Profiling is an example of Automated 
Processing.

Council name:  South Holland District Council.

Council Personnel:  all employees, contractors, agency workers, consultants, elected members and 
others.

Consent: agreement which must be freely given, specific, informed and be an unambiguous indication 

Page 39



3

of the Data Subject’s wishes by which they, by a statement or by a clear positive action, signify agreement 
to the Processing of Personal Data relating to them.

Data Controller:  the person or organisation that determines when, why and how to process Personal 
Data. It is responsible for establishing practices and policies in line with the UK GDPR. We are the Data 
Controller of all Personal Data relating to our Council Personnel and Personal Data used in our business 
for our own purposes.

Data Subject:  a living, identified or identifiable individual about whom we hold Personal Data. Data 
Subjects may be nationals or residents of any country and may have legal rights regarding their Personal 
Data.

Data Privacy Impact Assessment (DPIA):  tools and assessments used to identify and reduce risks of 
a data processing activity. DPIA can be carried out as part of Privacy by Design and should be conducted 
for all major system or business change programs involving the Processing of Personal Data.

Data Protection Officer (DPO):  the person required to be appointed in specific circumstances under 
the UK GDPR. The Council’s DPO is the person for the time being identified as such in the Council’s 
Constitution.

EEA:  the 27 countries in the EU, and Iceland, Liechtenstein and Norway.

Explicit Consent:  consent which requires a very clear and specific statement (that is, not just action).

UK General Data Protection Regulation (UK GDPR):  the UK General Data Protection Regulation (UK 
GDPR), tailored by the Data Protection Act 2018 provides legal safeguards for personal data.

Personal Data:  any information identifying a Data Subject or information relating to a Data Subject that 
we can identify (directly or indirectly) from that data alone or in combination with other identifiers we 
possess or can reasonably access. Personal Data includes Sensitive Personal Data and Pseudonymised 
Personal Data but excludes anonymous data or data that has had the identity of an individual permanently 
removed. Personal data can be factual (for example, a name, email address, location or date of birth) or 
an opinion about that person’s actions or behaviour. 

Personal Data Breach:  any act or omission that compromises the security, confidentiality, integrity or 
availability of Personal Data or the physical, technical, administrative or organisational safeguards that 
we or our third-party service providers put in place to protect it. The loss, or unauthorised access, 
disclosure or acquisition, of Personal Data is a Personal Data Breach.

Privacy by Design:  implementing appropriate technical and organisational measures in an effective 
manner to ensure compliance with the UK GDPR.

Privacy Guidelines:  the Council’s privacy/UK GDPR related guidelines provided to assist in 
interpreting and implementing this Policy and Related Policies, available here

Privacy Notices (also referred to as Fair Processing Notices) or Privacy Policies: separate notices 
setting out information that may be provided to Data Subjects when the Council collects information about 
them. These notices may take the form of general privacy statements applicable to a specific group of 
individuals (for example, employee privacy notices or the website privacy policy) or they may be stand-
alone, one time privacy statements covering Processing related to a specific purpose.

Processing or Process:  any activity that involves the use of Personal Data. It includes obtaining, 
recording or holding the data, or carrying out any operation or set of operations on the data including 
organising, amending, retrieving, using, disclosing, erasing or destroying it. Processing also includes 
transmitting or transferring Personal Data to third parties.

Page 40



4

Pseudonymisation or Pseudonymised:  replacing information that directly or indirectly identifies an 
individual with one or more artificial identifiers or pseudonyms so that the person, to whom the data 
relates, cannot be identified without the use of additional information which is meant to be kept separately 
and secure.

Related Policies:  the Council’s policies, operating procedures or processes related to this Policy and 
designed to protect Personal Data, available here

Sensitive Personal Data:  information revealing racial or ethnic origin, political opinions, religious or 
similar beliefs, trade union membership, physical or mental health conditions, sexual life, sexual 
orientation, biometric or genetic data, and Personal Data relating to criminal offences and convictions. 

 2.  INTRODUCTION  

 
This Policy sets out how South Holland District Council (”we”, “our”, “us”, “the Council”) handle the 
Personal Data of our customers, suppliers, elected members, employees, workers and other third 
parties.
 
This Policy applies to all Personal Data we Process regardless of the media on which that data is 
stored or whether it relates to past or present elected members, employees, workers, customers, 
clients or supplier contacts, website users or any other Data Subject.
 
This Policy applies to all Council Personnel (”you”, “your”). You must read, understand and comply 
with this Policy when Processing Personal Data on our behalf and attend training on its requirements. 
This Policy sets out what we expect from you in order for the Council to comply with applicable law. 
Your compliance with this Policy is mandatory. Related Policies and Privacy Guidelines are available 
to help you interpret and act in accordance with this Policy. You must also comply with all such Related 
Policies and Privacy Guidelines.  

3.  SCOPE  
 

We recognise that the correct and lawful treatment of Personal Data will maintain confidence in the 
organisation and will provide for successful business operations. Protecting the confidentiality and 
integrity of Personal Data is a critical responsibility that we take seriously at all times. The Council is 
exposed to potential fines of up to EUR20 million (approximately £18 million) or 4% of total annual 
turnover, whichever is higher and depending on the breach, for failure to comply with the provisions 
of the UK GDPR.
 
All managers and elected members are responsible for ensuring that all Council Personnel comply 
with this Policy and need to implement appropriate practices, processes, controls and training to 
ensure such compliance.
 
The DPO is responsible for overseeing this Policy and, as applicable, developing Related Policies and 
Privacy Guidelines.
 
Please contact the DPO with any questions about the operation of this Policy or the UK GDPR or if 
you have any concerns that this Policy is not being or has not been followed. In particular, you must 
always contact the DPO in the following circumstances:

  

(a)  if you are unsure of the lawful basis which you are relying on to process Personal Data 

Page 41



5

(including the legitimate interests used by the Council) (see Section [5.1] below);
 
(b)  if you need to rely on Consent and/or need to capture Explicit Consent (see Section [5.2] 

below);
 
(c)  if you need to draft Privacy Notices or Fair Processing Notices and are unsure of the necessary 

content (see Section [5.3] below);
 
(d)  if you are unsure about the retention period for the Personal Data being Processed (see Section 

[9] below);
 
(e)  if you are unsure about what security or other measures you need to implement to protect 

Personal Data (see Section [10.1] below);
 
(f)  if there has been a Personal Data Breach (Section [10.2] below);
 
(g)  if you are unsure on what basis to transfer Personal Data outside the EEA (see Section [11] 

below);
 
(h)  if you need any assistance dealing with any rights invoked by a Data Subject (see Section [12]);
 
(i)  whenever you are engaging in a significant new, or change in, Processing activity which is likely 

to require a DPIA (see Section [13.4] below) or plan to use Personal Data for purposes other 
than what it was collected for;

 
(j)  If you plan to undertake any activities involving Automated Processing including profiling or 

Automated Decision-Making (see Section [13.5] below);
 
(k)  If you need help complying with applicable law when carrying out direct marketing activities 

(see Section [13.6] below); or
 
(l)  if you need help with any contracts or other areas in relation to sharing Personal Data with third 

parties (including our vendors) (see Section [13.7] below). 

4.  PERSONAL DATA PROTECTION PRINCIPLES  
 

We adhere to the principles relating to Processing of Personal Data set out in the UK GDPR which 
require Personal Data to be:

 
(a)  Processed lawfully, fairly and in a transparent manner (Lawfulness, Fairness and 

Transparency).
 
(b)  Collected only for specified, explicit and legitimate purposes (Purpose Limitation).
 
(c)  Adequate, relevant, and limited to what is necessary in relation to the purposes for which it is 

Processed (Data Minimisation).
 
(d)  Accurate and where necessary kept up to date (Accuracy).
 
(e)  Not kept in a form which permits identification of Data Subjects for longer than is necessary 

for the purposes for which the data is Processed (Storage Limitation).
 

Page 42



6

(f)  Processed in a manner that ensures its security using appropriate technical and organisational 
measures to protect against unauthorised or unlawful Processing and against accidental loss, 
destruction or damage (Security, Integrity and Confidentiality).

 
(g)  Not transferred to another country without appropriate safeguards being in place (Transfer 

Limitation).
 
(h)  Made available to Data Subjects and Data Subjects allowed to exercise certain rights in 

relation to their Personal Data (Data Subject’s Rights and Requests).
 

We are responsible for and must be able to demonstrate compliance with the data protection principles 
listed above (Accountability).

 

5.  LAWFULNESS, FAIRNESS, TRANSPARENCY  
 
5.1 LAWFULNESS AND FAIRNESS  
 

Personal Data must be Processed lawfully, fairly and in a transparent manner in relation to the Data 
Subject.
 
You may only collect, Process and share Personal Data fairly and lawfully and for specified purposes. 
The UK GDPR restricts our actions regarding Personal Data to specified lawful purposes. These 
restrictions are not intended to prevent Processing but ensure that we Process Personal Data fairly 
and without adversely affecting the Data Subject.
 
The UK GDPR allows Processing for specific purposes, some of which are set out below:

 
(a)  the Data Subject has given his or her Consent;
 
(b)  the Processing is necessary for the performance of a contract with the Data Subject;
 
(c)  to meet our legal obligations;
 
(d)  to protect the Data Subject’s vital interests;
 
(e)   necessary for the performance of a task carried out in the public interest or in the exercise of 

official authority;
 

You must identify and document the legal ground being relied on for each Processing activity. It is 
very important that you do not seek to rely on consent where you have another lawful purpose (many 
of our services are, for example, tasks carried out in the public interest or in the exercise of official 
authority).

 
    5.2  CONSENT  
 

A Data Controller must only process Personal Data on the basis of one or more of the lawful bases 
set out in the UK GDPR, which includes Consent.
 
A Data Subject consents to Processing of their Personal Data if they indicate agreement clearly either 
by a statement or positive action to the Processing. Consent requires affirmative action so silence, 

Page 43



7

pre-ticked boxes or inactivity are unlikely to be sufficient. If Consent is given in a document which 
deals with other matters, then the Consent must be kept separate from those other matters.
 
Data Subjects must be easily able to withdraw Consent to Processing at any time and withdrawal must 
be promptly honoured. Consent may need to be refreshed if you intend to Process Personal Data for 
a different and incompatible purpose which was not disclosed when the Data Subject first consented.
 
Unless we can rely on another legal basis of Processing, Explicit Consent is usually required for 
Processing Sensitive Personal Data, for Automated Decision-Making and for cross border data 
transfers. Usually we will be relying on another legal basis (and not require Explicit Consent) to 
Process most types of Sensitive Data. Where Explicit Consent is required, you must issue a Fair 
Processing Notice to the Data Subject to capture Explicit Consent.
 
You will need to evidence Consent captured and keep records of all Consents so that the Council can 
demonstrate compliance with Consent requirements.

 
    5.3  TRANSPARENCY (NOTIFYING DATA SUBJECTS)  
 

The UK GDPR requires Data Controllers to provide detailed, specific information to Data Subjects 
depending on whether the information was collected directly from Data Subjects or from elsewhere. 
Such information must be provided through appropriate Privacy Notices or Fair Processing Notices 
which must be concise, transparent, intelligible, easily accessible, and in clear and plain language so 
that a Data Subject can easily understand them.
 
Whenever we collect Personal Data directly from Data Subjects, including for human resources or 
employment purposes, we must provide the Data Subject with all the information required by the UK 
GDPR including the identity of the Data Controller and DPO, how and why we will use, Process, 
disclose, protect and retain that Personal Data through a Fair Processing Notice which must be 
presented when the Data Subject first provides the Personal Data.
 
When Personal Data is collected indirectly (for example, from a third party or publicly available source), 
you must provide the Data Subject with all the information required by the UK GDPR as soon as 
possible after collecting/receiving the data. You must also check that the Personal Data was collected 
by the third party in accordance with the UK GDPR and on a basis which contemplates our proposed 
Processing of that Personal Data.

You should always check the Intranet (see earlier hyperlinks) for any guidelines on drafting Privacy 
Notices/Fair Processing Notices.  

6.  PURPOSE LIMITATION  
 

Personal Data must be collected only for specified, explicit and legitimate purposes. It must not be 
further Processed in any manner incompatible with those purposes.
 
You cannot use Personal Data for new, different or incompatible purposes from that disclosed when 
it was first obtained unless you have informed the Data Subject of the new purposes and they have 
Consented where necessary. 

7.  DATA MINIMISATION  
 

Personal Data must be adequate, relevant, and limited to what is necessary in relation to the 

Page 44



8

purposes for which it is Processed.
 
You may only Process Personal Data when performing your job duties (or in the case of an elected 
member, your ward duties or duties as an elected member generally) require it. You cannot Process 
Personal Data for any reason unrelated to your job/member duties.
 
You may only collect Personal Data that you require for your job/member duties: do not collect 
excessive data. Ensure any Personal Data collected is adequate and relevant for the intended 
purposes.
 
You must ensure that when Personal Data is no longer needed for specified purposes, it is deleted 
or anonymised in accordance with the Council’s data retention guidelines. 

8.  ACCURACY  
 

Personal Data must be accurate and, where necessary, kept up to date. It must be corrected or 
deleted without delay when inaccurate.
 
You will ensure that the Personal Data we use and hold is accurate, complete, kept up to date and 
relevant to the purpose for which we collected it. You must check the accuracy of any Personal Data 
at the point of collection and at regular intervals afterwards. You must take all reasonable steps to 
destroy or amend inaccurate or out-of-date Personal Data.

 

9.  STORAGE LIMITATION  
 

Personal Data must not be kept in an identifiable form for longer than is necessary for the purposes 
for which the data is processed.
 
You must not keep Personal Data in a form which permits the identification of the Data Subject for 
longer than needed for the legitimate business purpose or purposes for which we originally collected 
it including for the purpose of satisfying any legal, accounting or reporting requirements.
 
The Council will maintain retention policies and procedures to ensure Personal Data is deleted after 
a reasonable time for the purposes for which it was being held, unless a law requires such data to 
be kept for a minimum time. You must comply with the Council’s guidelines on Data Retention (which 
the council holds within various Information Assets Registers).  
 
You will take all reasonable steps to destroy or erase from our systems all Personal Data that we no 
longer require in accordance with all the Council’s applicable records retention schedules and 
policies. This includes requiring third parties to delete such data where applicable.
 
You will ensure Data Subjects are informed of the period for which data is stored and how that period 
is determined in any applicable Privacy Notice or Fair Processing Notice.

 

10.  SECURITY INTEGRITY AND CONFIDENTIALITY  
 
10.1 PROTECTING PERSONAL DATA  
 

Personal Data must be secured by appropriate technical and organisational measures against 

Page 45



9

unauthorised or unlawful Processing, and against accidental loss, destruction or damage.
 
We will develop, implement and maintain safeguards appropriate to our size, scope and business, 
our available resources, the amount of Personal Data that we own or maintain on behalf of others 
and identified risks (including use of encryption and Pseudonymisation where applicable). We will 
regularly evaluate and test the effectiveness of those safeguards to ensure security of our 
Processing of Personal Data. You are responsible for protecting the Personal Data we hold. You 
must implement reasonable and appropriate security measures against unlawful or unauthorised 
Processing of Personal Data and against the accidental loss of, or damage to, Personal Data. You 
must exercise particular care in protecting Sensitive Personal Data from loss and unauthorised 
access, use or disclosure.
 
You must follow all procedures and technologies we put in place to maintain the security of all 
Personal Data from the point of collection to the point of destruction. You may only transfer Personal 
Data to third-party service providers who agree to comply with the required policies and procedures 
and who agree to put adequate measures in place, as requested.
 
You must maintain data security by protecting the confidentiality, integrity and availability of the 
Personal Data, defined as follows:

 
(a)  Confidentiality means that only people who have a need to know and are authorised to use 

the Personal Data can access it.
 
(b)  Integrity means that Personal Data is accurate and suitable for the purpose for which it is 

processed.
 
(c)  Availability means that authorised users are able to access the Personal Data when they 

need it for authorised purposes.
 

You must comply with and not attempt to circumvent the administrative, physical and technical 
safeguards we implement and maintain in accordance with the UK GDPR and relevant standards 
to protect Personal Data. 

 
10.2  REPORTING A PERSONAL DATA BREACH  
 

The UK GDPR requires Data Controllers to notify any Personal Data Breach to the applicable 
regulator (the Information Commissioner) and, in certain instances, the Data Subject.
 
We have put in place procedures to deal with any suspected Personal Data Breach and will notify 
Data Subjects or any applicable regulator where we are legally required to do so.
 
If you know or suspect that a Personal Data Breach has occurred, do not attempt to investigate the 
matter yourself. Immediately contact the DPO or in his/her absence the Legal Team. You should 
preserve all evidence relating to the potential Personal Data Breach.

11.  TRANSFER LIMITATION  
 

The UK GDPR restricts data transfers to countries outside the EEA in order to ensure that the level 
of data protection afforded to individuals by the UK GDPR is not undermined. You transfer Personal 
Data originating in one country across borders when you transmit, send, view or access that data 
in or to a different country.

Page 46



10

 
You may only transfer Personal Data outside the EEA if one of the following conditions applies:

 
(a) the European Commission has issued a decision confirming that the country to which we 

transfer the Personal Data ensures an adequate level of protection for the Data Subjects’ 
rights and freedoms. Currently these countries are Andorra, Argentina, Canada, Faeroe 
Islands, Guernsey, Israel, Isle of Man, Japan, Jersey, New Zealand, Switzerland and 
Uruguay.  These adequacy decisions do not cover data exchanges in the law enforcement 
sector which are governed by the Law Enforcement Directive (Article 36 of Directive (EU) 
2016/680).  

On 28 June 2021, the Commission adopted two adequacy decisions for transfers of 
personal data to the United Kingdom, under the General Data Protection Regulation 
(GDPR) and the Law Enforcement Directive (LED) respectively.

 Updates can be found at the following link: EU website;
  

(b)  appropriate safeguards are in place such as binding corporate rules (BCR), standard 
contractual clauses approved by the European Commission, an approved code of conduct 
or a certification mechanism;

 
(c)  the Data Subject has provided Explicit Consent to the proposed transfer after being informed 

of any potential risks; or
 
(d)  the transfer is necessary for one of the other reasons set out in the UK GDPR including the 

performance of a contract between us and the Data Subject, reasons of public interest, to 
establish, exercise or defend legal claims or to protect the vital interests of the Data Subject 
where the Data Subject is physically or legally incapable of giving Consent. 

12.  DATA SUBJECT’S RIGHTS AND REQUESTS  
 

Data Subjects have rights when it comes to how we handle their Personal Data. These include rights 
to:

 
(a)  withdraw Consent to Processing at any time;
 
(b)  receive certain information about the Data Controller’s Processing activities;
 
(c)  request access to their Personal Data that we hold;
 
(d)  prevent our use of their Personal Data for direct marketing purposes;
 
(e)  ask us to erase Personal Data if it is no longer necessary in relation to the purposes for which 

it was collected or Processed or to rectify inaccurate data or to complete incomplete data;
 
(f)  restrict Processing in specific circumstances;
 
(g)  challenge Processing which has been justified on the basis of the public interest;
 
(h)  request a copy of an agreement under which Personal Data is transferred outside of the EEA;
 
(i)  object to decisions based solely on Automated Processing, including profiling (ADM);

Page 47



11

 
(j)  prevent Processing that is likely to cause damage or distress to the Data Subject or anyone 

else;
 
(k)  be notified of a Personal Data Breach which is likely to result in high risk to their rights and 

freedoms;
 
(l)  make a complaint to the supervisory authority; and
 
(m)  in limited circumstances, receive or ask for their Personal Data to be transferred to a third 

party in a structured, commonly used and machine readable format.
 

You must verify the identity of an individual requesting data under any of the rights listed above (do 
not allow third parties to persuade you into disclosing Personal Data without proper authorisation). 
Full procedures can be found here 
 
You must immediately forward any Data Subject request you receive to the Council’s Feedback and 
Enquiries team. 

13.  ACCOUNTABILITY  
 
13.1The Data Controller (in most cases the Council) must implement appropriate technical and 

organisational measures in an effective manner, to ensure compliance with data protection 
principles. The Data Controller is responsible for, and must be able to demonstrate, compliance with 
the data protection principles.

 
The Council must have adequate resources and controls in place to ensure and to document UK 
GDPR compliance including:

 
(a)  appointing a suitably qualified DPO and an officer accountable for data privacy;
 
(b)  implementing Privacy by Design when Processing Personal Data and completing DPIAs 

where Processing presents a high risk to rights and freedoms of Data Subjects;
 
(c)  integrating data protection into internal documents including this Policy, Related Policies, 

Privacy Guidelines, Privacy Notices or Fair Processing Notices;
 
(d)  regularly training Council Personnel on the UK GDPR, this Policy, Related Policies and 

Privacy Guidelines and data protection matters including, for example, Data Subject’s rights, 
Consent, legal basis, DPIA and Personal Data Breaches. The Council must maintain a 
record of training attendance by Council Personnel; and

 
(e)  regularly testing the privacy measures implemented and conducting periodic reviews and 

audits to assess compliance, including using results of testing to demonstrate compliance 
improvement effort.

 
13.2  RECORD KEEPING  
 

The UK GDPR requires us to keep full and accurate records of all our data Processing activities.
 
You must keep and maintain accurate corporate records reflecting our Processing including records 
of Data Subjects’ Consents and procedures for obtaining Consents.

Page 48



12

 
These records should include, at a minimum, the name and contact details of the Data Controller 
and the DPO, clear descriptions of the Personal Data types, Data Subject types, Processing 
activities, Processing purposes, third-party recipients of the Personal Data, Personal Data storage 
locations, Personal Data transfers, the Personal Data’s retention period and a description of the 
security measures in place.

 
13.3  TRAINING AND AUDIT  
 

We are required to ensure that all Council Personnel have undergone adequate training to enable 
them to comply with data privacy laws. We must also regularly test our systems and processes to 
assess compliance.
 
You must undergo all mandatory data privacy related training and ensure your team undergo similar 
mandatory training.
 
You must regularly review all the systems and processes under your control to ensure they comply 
with this Policy and check that adequate governance controls and resources are in place to ensure 
proper use and protection of Personal Data.

 
13.4  PRIVACY BY DESIGN AND DATA PROTECTION IMPACT ASSESSMENT (DPIA)  
 

We are required to implement Privacy by Design measures when Processing Personal Data by 
implementing appropriate technical and organisational measures (like Pseudonymisation) in an 
effective manner, to ensure compliance with data privacy principles.
 
You must assess what Privacy by Design measures can be implemented on all 
programs/systems/processes that Process Personal Data by taking into account the following:

 
(a)  the state of the art;
 
(b)  the cost of implementation;
 
(c)  the nature, scope, context and purposes of Processing; and
 
(d)  the risks of varying likelihood and severity for rights and freedoms of Data Subjects posed 

by the Processing.
 

Data controllers must also conduct DPIAs in respect to high risk Processing.
 
You should conduct a DPIA (and discuss your findings with the DPO) when implementing major 
system or business change programs involving the Processing of Personal Data including:

 
(e)  use of new technologies (programs, systems or processes), or changing technologies 

(programs, systems or processes);
 
(f)  Automated Processing including profiling and ADM;
 
(g)  large scale Processing of Sensitive Data; and
 
(h)  large scale, systematic monitoring of a publicly accessible area.

Page 49



13

 
A DPIA must include:

 
(i)  a description of the Processing and its purposes;
 
(j)  an assessment of the necessity and proportionality of the Processing in relation to its 

purpose;
 
(k)  an assessment of the risk to individuals; and
 
(l)  the risk mitigation measures in place and demonstration of compliance.
 
 

13.5  AUTOMATED PROCESSING (INCLUDING PROFILING) AND AUTOMATED DECISION- 
MAKING  
 

Generally, ADM is prohibited when a decision has a legal or similar significant effect on an individual 
unless:

 
(a)  a Data Subject has Explicitly Consented;
 
(b)  the Processing is authorised by law; or
 
(c)  the Processing is necessary for the performance of or entering into a contract.
 

If certain types of Sensitive Data are being processed, then grounds (b) or (c) will not be allowed 
but such Sensitive Data can be Processed where it is necessary (unless less intrusive means can 
be used) for substantial public interest like fraud prevention.
 
If a decision is to be based solely on Automated Processing (including profiling), then Data Subjects 
must be informed when you first communicate with them of their right to object. This right must be 
explicitly brought to their attention and presented clearly and separately from other information. 
Further, suitable measures must be put in place to safeguard the Data Subject’s rights and 
freedoms and legitimate interests.
 
We must also inform the Data Subject of the logic involved in the decision making or profiling, the 
significance and envisaged consequences and give the Data Subject the right to request human 
intervention, express their point of view or challenge the decision.
 
A DPIA must be carried out before any Automated Processing (including profiling) or ADM activities 
are undertaken.
 

 
13.6  DIRECT MARKETING  
 

We are subject to certain rules and privacy laws when marketing to our customers.
 
For example, a Data Subject’s prior consent is required for electronic direct marketing (for example, 
by email, text or automated calls). The limited exception for existing customers known as “soft opt 
in” allows organisations to send marketing texts or emails if they have obtained contact details in 
the course of a sale to that person, they are marketing similar products or services, and they gave 

Page 50



14

the person an opportunity to opt out of marketing when first collecting the details and in every 
subsequent message.
 
The right to object to direct marketing must be explicitly offered to the Data Subject in an intelligible 
manner so that it is clearly distinguishable from other information.
 
A Data Subject’s objection to direct marketing must be promptly honoured. If a customer opts out 
at any time, their details should be suppressed as soon as possible. Suppression involves retaining 
just enough information to ensure that marketing preferences are respected in the future.
 
You must comply with any Council guidelines on direct marketing to customers.

 
13.7  SHARING PERSONAL DATA  
 

Generally we are not allowed to share Personal Data with third parties unless certain safeguards 
and contractual arrangements have been put in place.
 
You may only share the Personal Data internally if the recipient has a job-related need to know the 
information.
 
You may only share the Personal Data we hold with third parties, such as our service providers if:

 
(a)  they have a need to know the information for the purposes of providing the contracted 

services;
 
(b)  sharing the Personal Data complies with the Privacy Notice provided to the Data Subject 

and, if required, the Data Subject’s Consent has been obtained;
 
(c)  the third party has agreed to comply with the required data security standards, policies and 

procedures and put adequate security measures in place;
 
(d)  the transfer complies with any applicable cross border transfer restrictions; and
 
(e)  a fully executed written contract that contains UK GDPR approved third party clauses has 

been obtained.

14.  CHANGES TO THIS POLICY  
 

We reserve the right to change this Policy at any time without notice to you so please check back 
regularly to obtain the latest copy of this Policy.
 
This Policy does not override any applicable national data privacy laws and regulations. 

 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B

Data Security Breach Procedure

Introduction

All information security incidents must be reported to the Legal Team. This enables an 
internal investigation, with a view to determining what action should be taken and 
whether the incident should be reported to the Information Commissioner’s Office. 

Even if information has not been lost, but the incident may be classed as a ‘near 
miss’ this should be reported to your manager. An example here might be a 
member of staff taking sensitive information home without authority, but returning it 
safely the next day.

Note: if we need to self-report to the ICO this must be done within 72 hours

Actions Responsibilities and Duties

1
Employee All identified incidents must be notified via the intranet notification form 

as soon as they are detected. This will notify the Legal Team and the 
DPO

2
Feedback and 

Enquiries 
team

If the incident is identified via a complaint, the Feedback and 
Enquiries Team will appoint an investigating officer from the service 
area where the incident has originated, and the matter will be 
managed under the Corporate Complaints Procedure

3
DPO

If the incident has not been reported through the Complaints process, 
the DPO will appoint a senior officer within the service area to 
investigate the incident and establish why it happened, whether or not 
it constitutes a breach and what remedial action is necessary. The 
investigating officer will keep the Legal Team regularly updated on 
progress.

4

Investigating 
Officer

The investigating officer will take professional advice as required from 
the DPO, Feedback and Enquiries Team, Legal Services, and HR.

5
Employee

Investigating 
Officer

Establish the following and advise the Legal Team as soon as possible:

 The extent of the breach
 The amount of information involved
 The sensitivity of information involved
 A timeline of dates and times concerning the incident
 The potential for loss or damage to individuals, the Council or any 

other body
 What measures need to be taken and how quickly (for example: can 

the information be recovered? Do any individuals or organisations 
need to be notified? Do the Police need to be notified?)

Page 53



Actions Responsibilities and Duties

6
Investigating  

Officer

Unless considered to be a very minor breach of security, carry out and 
document a risk assessment. Depending upon the outcome of the 
risk assessment, use the letter template in Annex 1 to inform those 
affected by the breach.

7
Investigating 

Officer
Report the loss of data to the police as required, and notify the 
Council’s DPO whenever the police are involved.

8
DPO

Consider convening a meeting as appropriate involving people who 
are likely to have an active role in remedying the breach or dealing 
with any of the outside parties involved. Maintain an action plan 
tasking individuals with assisting the investigation as necessary.

9
Investigating 

Officer
Consider whether written statements may be needed. If so, first consult 
with the Legal Team and the HR Team if it is considered that 
Disciplinary action may be required at some point.

10
Investigating 

Officer
If information has been sent to the wrong address, retrieve the 
information as soon as possible, using the letter template in Annex 1 
or via a home visit as appropriate.

11
Investigating 

Officer

Always consider involving the Council’s Communications team early 
on and keeping them updated.

12
Investigating 

Officer

As part of the process of identifying the cause of the breach, try to 
consider measures that can be put in place to eliminate or reduce the 
chances of a reoccurrence. Where these are obvious, put them in 
place straight away; where these would need further discussion, report 
them to the DPO.

13
Investigating 

Officer

Where the incident has been treated as a complaint, the investigating 
officer will draft a response for the complainant and have it reviewed 
by the Legal Team and the DPO. The response will be sent to the 
complainant by the Feedback and Enquiries Team.

Page 54



Actions Responsibilities and Duties

14
Investigating 

Officer

Provide a final written briefing to the DPO. If the DPO concludes that 
the breach should be reported to the Information Commissioner, 
complete a formal breach notification form and send it to the Legal 
Team and the DPO for review

15
Legal team/ 

DPO

Submit ICO Breach notification form (if required) and address any 
outstanding legal issues (e.g. injunction proceedings).

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/report-a-breach/personal-data-
breach/

Notify the data subject where there is a high risk to their rights or 
freedoms

Notify the relevant portfolio holder(s) where a breach notification is 
submitted.

Further guidance 
available (links to 
useful documents)

Home | ICO

Related policies & 
procedures

Disciplinary Procedure 
Data Protection Policy

Golden rules for reporting and investigating data breaches

Remember:

 Do not keep a breach to yourself, even if you feel there has been no harm 
arising.

 Do not seek to apportion blame – the main object of this procedure is to 
address the breach and improve our processes.

 This procedure is not confined to breaches involving personal data only. Any 
uncontrolled information loss is important.

 Be honest with the facts.
 Be thorough in investigating or assisting with any investigation.

Contact details

Mark Stinson
Data Protection Officer 
Tel: 07899 061277

Sarah Wolstenholme-Smy
Legal Services Manager
Tel: 07970 248422

Page 55



ANNEX 1 - Letter to individual whose data has been breached

Dear ____________

[provide a short description of the breach] which unfortunately involves your 
personal data.

Please be assured that we are taking this matter very seriously and are investigating 
the matter / have concluded our investigation into it.

The facts in this matter are <give description of what has happened>.

<State what remedial action(s) have been carried out>

<State what has been done to prevent a reoccurrence>

If you have any questions or concerns regarding this letter, please get in touch with 
me.

I would again like to apologise for the incident of which you may have, until now, 
been unaware. 

Yours sincerely,

Page 56



ANNEX 2 – letter to person who has received personal data in error

[refer to any letter or telephone call from them telling us about having received the 
information in error – thanking them as appropriate].

[otherwise, explain the incident and that we believe that they have received 
information in error].

As you would imagine we have taken this matter very seriously and have concluded 
our investigation into it.

The facts in this matter are <give description of what has happened>.

Could you please return the document(s) to me at the address below by <date 10 
days from now>.

<State what remedial action(s) have been carried out>

<State what has been done to prevent a reoccurrence>

I hope this letter has allayed your fears as to the integrity of your own information and 
documents and can I again thank you for bringing this case to our attention enabling 
us to take appropriate action.

Yours sincerely,

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



Response procedures for data subject requests under GDPR

1

APPENDIX C
These procedures need to be read in conjunction with the Council’s Data Protection Policy and any guidance that 
may be issued from time to time by the Information Commissioner’s Office.

The Council’s Feedback and Enquiries Team will co-ordinate all requests under these procedures.

Where requests are made for erasure or restriction of personal data, not to be subject to automated decision- 
making, or where an objection to processing is received, the officer dealing with the request/objection must 
consult with the Legal Team before processing the request. This is extremely important particularly as certain 
personal data must not be erased and must continue to be processed where, for example, the Council needs to 
process the data in order to perform a statutory duty – such as collecting Council Tax.

1. ABOUT THESE PROCEDURES

1.1 Data subjects have certain rights in respect of their personal data. When we process data subjects’ 
personal data, we shall respect those rights. These procedures provide a framework for responding to 
requests to exercise those rights. It is our policy to ensure that requests by data subjects covered by 
these procedures to exercise their rights in respect of their personal data are handled in accordance with 
applicable law.

1.2 For the purposes of these procedures, “personal data” means any information relating to an identified or 
identifiable data subject. An identifiable data subject is anyone who can be identified, directly or indirectly, 
by reference to an identifier, such as a name, identification number or online identifier. “Processing” 
means any operation or set of operations that is performed on personal data, such as collection, use, 
storage, dissemination and destruction.

1.3 These procedures only apply to data subjects whose personal data we process.

2. RESPONDING TO REQUESTS TO ACCESS PERSONAL DATA

2.1 Data subjects have the right to request access to their personal data processed by us. Such requests are 
called Subject Access Requests (SARs). When a data subject makes an SAR we shall take the following 
steps:

(a) log the date on which the request was received (to ensure that the relevant timeframe of one month 
for responding to the request is met) – all SARs must be passed to the Feedback and Enquiries 
Team for allocation and co-ordination;

(b) confirm the identity of the data subject who is the subject of the personal data. For example, we may 
request additional information (such as a passport and utility bill) from the data subject to confirm 
their identity;

(c) search databases, systems, applications and other places where the personal data which are the 
subject of the request may be held; and

(d) confirm to the data subject whether or not personal data of the data subject making the SAR are 
being processed.

2.2 If personal data of the data subject are being processed, we shall provide the data subject with the 
following information in a concise, transparent, intelligible and easily accessible form, using clear and 
plain language, in writing or by other (including electronic) means:

Page 59



Response procedures for data subject requests under GDPR

2

(a) the purposes of the processing;

(b) the categories of personal data concerned (for example, contact details, bank account information 
and details of sales activity);

(c) the recipients or categories of recipient to whom the personal data have been or will be disclosed, in 
particular recipients overseas (for example, US-based service providers);

(d) where possible, the envisaged period for which the personal data will be stored, or, if not possible, 
the criteria used to determine that period;

(e) the existence of the right to request rectification or erasure of personal data or restriction of 
processing of personal data or to object to such processing;

(f) the right to lodge a complaint with the Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO);

(g) where the personal data are not collected from the data subject, any available information as to their 
source;

(h) the existence of any automated decision-making in relation to the subject’s personal data and 
meaningful information about the logic involved, as well as the significance and the envisaged 
consequences of such processing for the data subject; and

(i) where personal data are transferred outside the UK, details of the appropriate safeguards to protect 
the personal data.

2.3 We shall also, unless there is an exemption (see Paragraph 9 below), provide the data subject with a 
copy of the personal data processed by us in a commonly used electronic form (unless the data subject 
either did not make the request by electronic means or has specifically requested not to be provided with 
the copy in electronic form) within one month of receipt of the request. If the request is complex, or there 
are a number of requests, we may extend the period for responding by a further two months. If we extend 
the period for responding we shall inform the data subject within one month of receipt of the request and 
explain the reason(s) for the delay.

2.4 Before providing the personal data to the data subject making the SAR, we shall review the personal data 
requested to see if they contain the personal data of other data subjects. If they do, we may redact the 
personal data of those other data subjects prior to providing the data subject with their personal data, 
unless those other data subjects have consented to the disclosure of their personal data.

2.5 If the SAR is manifestly unfounded or excessive, for example, because of its repetitive character, we may 
charge a reasonable fee, taking into account the administrative costs of providing the personal data, or 
refuse to act on the request.

2.6 If we are not going to respond to the SAR we shall inform the data subject of the reason(s) for not taking 
action and of the possibility of lodging a complaint with the ICO.

3. RESPONDING TO REQUESTS TO RECTIFY PERSONAL DATA

3.1 Data subjects have the right to have their inaccurate personal data rectified. Rectification can include 
having incomplete personal data completed, for example, by a data subject providing a supplementary 
statement regarding the data. Where such a request is made, we shall, unless there is an exemption (see 
Paragraph 9 below), rectify the personal data without undue delay.

Page 60



Response procedures for data subject requests under GDPR

3

3.2 All requests for rectification of Personal Data must be passed to the  Feedback and Enquiries Team for 
allocation and co- ordination. We shall also communicate the rectification of the personal data to each 
recipient to whom the personal data have been disclosed (for example, our third party service providers 
who process the data on our behalf), unless this is impossible or involves disproportionate effort. We shall 
also inform the data subject about those recipients if the data subject requests it.

4. RESPONDING TO REQUESTS FOR THE ERASURE OF PERSONAL DATA

4.1 Data subjects have the right, in certain circumstances, to request that we erase their personal data. 
Where such a request is made, we shall, unless there is an exemption (see Paragraph 9 below), erase 
the personal data without undue delay if:

(a) the personal data are no longer necessary in relation to the purposes for which they were collected 
or otherwise processed;

(b) the data subject withdraws their consent to the processing of their personal data and consent was 
the basis on which the personal data were processed and there is no other legal basis for the 
processing;

(c) the data subject objects to the processing of their personal data on the basis of our performance of a 
task carried out in the public interest or in the exercise of official authority vested in us, unless we 
either can show compelling legitimate grounds for the processing which override the data subject’s 
interests or fundamental rights and freedoms, or we are processing the data for the establishment, 
exercise or defence of legal claims;

(d) the data subject objects to the processing of their personal data for direct marketing purposes;

(e) the personal data have been unlawfully processed;

(f) the personal data have to be erased for compliance with a legal obligation to which we are subject; 
or

(g) the personal data have been collected in relation to the offer of e-commerce or other online services.

4.2 When a data subject makes a request for erasure in the circumstances set out above, we shall, unless 
there is an exemption (see Paragraph 4.5 and Paragraph 9 below), take the following steps:

(a) log the date on which the request was received (to ensure that the relevant timeframe of one month 
for responding to the request is met) – all requests for erasure must be passed to the  Feedback and 
EnquiriesTeam for allocation and co-ordination;

(b) confirm the identity of the data subject who is the subject of the personal data. We may request 
additional information (such as a passport and utility bill) from the data subject to confirm their 
identity;

(c) search databases, systems, applications and other places where the personal data which are the 
subject of the request may be held and erase such data within one month of receipt of the request. If 
the request is complex, or there are a number of requests, we may extend the period for responding 
by a further two months. If we extend the period for responding we shall inform the data subject 
within one month of receipt of the request and explain the reason(s) for the delay;

(d) where we have made the personal data public, we must, taking reasonable steps, including technical 
measures, inform those who are processing the personal data that the data subject has requested 
the erasure by them of any links to, or copies or replications of, those personal data; and

Page 61



Response procedures for data subject requests under GDPR

4

(e) communicate the erasure of the personal data to each recipient to whom the personal data have 
been disclosed unless this is impossible or involves disproportionate effort. We shall also inform the 
data subject about those recipients if the data subject requests it.

4.3 If the request is manifestly unfounded or excessive, for example, because of its repetitive character, we 
may charge a reasonable fee, taking into account the administrative costs of erasure, or refuse to act on 
the request.

4.4 If we are not going to respond to the request we shall inform the data subject of the reasons for not taking 
action and of the possibility of lodging a complaint with the ICO.

4.5 In addition to the exemptions in Paragraph 9 below, we can also refuse to erase the personal data to the 
extent processing is necessary:

(a) for exercising the right of freedom of expression and information;

(b) for compliance with a legal obligation which requires processing by law and to which we are subject 
or for the performance of a task carried out in the public interest or in the exercise of official authority 
vested in us;

(c) for reasons of public interest in the area of public health;

(d) for archiving purposes in the public interest, scientific or historical research purposes, or statistical 
purposes in so far as the right to erasure is likely to render impossible or seriously impair the 
achievement of the objectives of that processing; or

(e) for the establishment, exercise or defence of legal claims.

5. RESPONDING TO REQUESTS TO RESTRICT THE PROCESSING OF PERSONAL DATA

5.1 Data subjects have the right, unless there is an exemption (see Paragraph 9 below), to restrict the 
processing of their personal data if:

(a) the data subject contests the accuracy of the personal data, for a period to allow us to verify the 
accuracy of the personal data;

(b) the processing is unlawful and the data subject opposes the erasure of the personal data and 
requests the restriction of their use instead;

(c) we no longer need the personal data for the purposes we collected them, but they are required by 
the data subject for the establishment, exercise or defence of legal claims; and

(d) the data subject has objected to the processing, pending verification of whether we have legitimate 
grounds to override the data subject’s objection.

5.2 All such requests to restrict processing must be passed to the Council’s  Feedback and Enquiries Team. 
Where processing has been restricted, we shall only process the personal data (excluding storing them):

(a) with the data subject’s consent;

(b) for the establishment, exercise or defence of legal claims;

(c) for the protection of the rights of another person; or

Page 62



Response procedures for data subject requests under GDPR

5

(d) for reasons of important public interest.

5.3 Prior to lifting the restriction, we shall inform the data subject of the lifting of the restriction.

5.4 We shall communicate the restriction of processing of the personal data to each recipient to whom the 
personal data have been disclosed, unless this is impossible or involves disproportionate effort. We shall 
also inform the data subject about those recipients if the data subject requests it.

6. RESPONDING TO REQUESTS FOR THE PORTABILITY OF PERSONAL DATA

6.1 Data subjects have the right, in certain circumstances, to receive their personal data that they have 
provided to us in a structured, commonly used and machine-readable format that they can then transmit 
to another company. Where such a request is made, we shall, unless there is an exemption (see 
Paragraph 9 below), provide the personal data without undue delay if:

(a) the legal basis for the processing of the personal data is consent or pursuant to a contract; and

(b) our processing of those data is automated.

6.2 When a data subject makes a request for portability in the circumstances set out above, we shall take the 
following steps:

(a) log the date on which the request was received (to ensure that the relevant timeframe of one month 
for responding to the request is met) – all requests for portability must be passed to the  Feedback 
and EnquiriesTeam for allocation and co-ordination;

(b) confirm the identity of the data subject who is the subject of the personal data. We may request 
additional information (such as a passport and utility bill) from the data subject to confirm their 
identity;

(c) search databases, systems, applications and other places where the personal data which are the 
subject of the request may be held and provide the data subject with such data (or, at the data 
subject’s request, transmit the personal data directly to another company, where technically feasible) 
within one month of receipt of the request. If the request is complex, or there are a number of 
requests, we may extend the period for responding by a further two months. If we extend the period 
for responding we shall inform the data subject within one month of receipt of the request and explain 
the reason(s) for the delay.

6.3 If the request is manifestly unfounded or excessive, for example, because of its repetitive character, we 
may charge a reasonable fee, taking into account the administrative costs of providing or transmitting the 
personal data, or refuse to act on the request.

6.4 If we are not going to respond to the request we shall inform the data subject of the reasons for not taking 
action and of the possibility of lodging a complaint with the ICO.

7. RESPONDING TO OBJECTIONS TO THE PROCESSING OF PERSONAL DATA

7.1 Data subjects have the right to object to the processing of their personal data where such processing is 
on the basis of our performance of a task carried out in the public interest or in the exercise of official 
authority vested in us, unless we either:

(a) can show compelling legitimate grounds for the processing which override the data subject’s

Page 63



Response procedures for data subject requests under GDPR

6

interests or fundamental rights and freedoms; or

(b) are processing the personal data for the establishment, exercise or defence of legal claims.

7.2 Data subjects also have the right to object to the processing of their personal data for scientific or 
historical research purposes, or statistical purposes, unless the processing is necessary for the 
performance of a task carried out for reasons of public interest.

7.3 Where such an objection is made, we shall, unless there is an exemption (see Paragraph 9 below), no 
longer process a data subject’s personal data.

7.4 Where personal data are processed for direct marketing purposes, data subjects have the right to object 
at any time to the processing of their personal data for such marketing. If a data subject makes such a 
request, we shall stop processing the personal data for such purposes.

7.5 All such objections to the processing of personal data must be passed to the Feedback and Enquiries 
Team for allocation and co-ordination.

8. RESPONDING TO REQUESTS NOT TO BE SUBJECT TO AUTOMATED DECISION-MAKING

8.1 Data subjects have the right, in certain circumstances, not to be subject to a decision based solely on the 
automated processing of their personal data, if such decision produces legal effects concerning them or 
similarly significantly affects them. Where such a request is made, we shall, unless there is an exemption 
(see Paragraph 9 below), no longer make such a decision unless it:

(a) is necessary for entering into, or the performance of, a contract between us and the data subject;

(b) is authorised by applicable law which lays down suitable measures to safeguard the data subject’s 
rights, freedoms and legitimate interests; or

(c) is based on the data subject’s explicit consent.

8.2 If the decision falls within Paragraph 8.1(a) or Paragraph 8.1(c), we shall implement suitable measures to 
safeguard the data subject’s rights, freedoms and legitimate interests, including the right to obtain human 
intervention, to express their point of view and to contest the decision.

8.3 All such requests must be passed to the  Feedback and EnquiriesTeam for allocation and co-ordination.

9. EXEMPTIONS

9.1 Before responding to any request we shall check whether there are any exemptions that apply to the 
personal data that are the subject of the request. Exemptions may apply where it is necessary and 
proportionate not to comply with the requests described above to safeguard:

(a) national security;

(b) defence;

(c) public security;

(d) the prevention, investigation, detection or prosecution of criminal offences or the execution of

Page 64



Response procedures for data subject requests under GDPR

7

criminal penalties, including the safeguarding against and the prevention of threats to public security;

(e) other important objectives of general national public interest, in particular an important national 
economic or financial interest, including monetary, budgetary and taxation matters, public health and 
social security;

(f) the protection of judicial independence and judicial proceedings;

(g) the prevention, investigation, detection and prosecution of breaches of ethics for regulated 
professions;

(h) a monitoring, inspection or regulatory function connected, even occasionally, to the exercise of 
official authority in the cases referred to in Paragraph 9.1(a) and Paragraph 9.1(g) above;

(i) the protection of the data subject or the rights and freedoms of others; or

(j) the enforcement of civil law claims.

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

REPORT TO: POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL 

DATE: 16 NOVEMBER 

SUBJECT: 

 

PURPOSE:  

DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY 

 

TO GAIN MEMBER INPUT INTO THE DRAFT STRATEGY PRIOR TO 

WIDER PUBLIC/STAKEHOLDER CONSULTATION 

KEY DECISION: N/A 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: COUNCILLOR GARY PORTER 

REPORT OF: 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENT MANAGER 

SARAH BAKER 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: N/A 

EXEMPT REPORT? No 

 

SUMMARY 

This report provides background to the accompanying draft Climate Change Strategy for the 

geographical area covered by the new South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership. This 

document moves beyond the confines our own operations to look at the wider issues for 

Climate Change in our local communities.  

SELCP cannot deliver this strategy in isolation and a new South and East Lincolnshire Climate 

Action Network will be established to bring together all relevant partners and ensure delivery at 

all levels as we work towards the country’s net zero ambition. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

Policy Development Panel is asked to consider the draft Climate Change Strategy and provide 

feedback prior to the document going to Cabinet in December. 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

Page 67

Agenda Item 10.



To ensure Members are familiar with the content of the draft strategy prior to wider 

stakeholder engagement and to give an early opportunity to provide feedback.   

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

None. 

 

1.0  BACKGROUND 

1.1 Prior to the establishment of the South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership, Boston 

Borough Council and East Lindsey District Council had begun the development of a Climate 

Change Strategy for the wider geographical area. Due to the timing of the report, and given 

the current national focus on Climate Change due to COP26 activity, it seemed fitting that 

this document should be broadened to include South Holland. If approved, this document 

will become one of the first joint strategic pieces of work to be produced by the three 

Councils. 

 

1.2 It is recognised that the scope of carbon emissions that can be influenced directly by any of 

the Councils themselves is relatively small. Therefore, this document seeks to provide the 

strategic framework to bring together stakeholders from across South and East Lincolnshire 

to work collaboratively to address the key challenges and opportunities. 

 

1.3 While even at that scale, we have a very small role to play in a global issue, the Climate 

Change Strategy seeks to ensure a more sustainable future for our local communities 

through ensuring economic, social and environmental prosperity. 

 

1.4 BBC and ELDC are slightly further forward in their governance around this strategy and are 

about to launch wider public/stakeholder consultation. If agreed by Cabinet in December, it 

is planned that South Holland District Council will consult in early 2022. 

 

2.0  REPORT 

 

2.1 Climate Change presents one of the biggest challenges facing our world today and action 

requires commitment from all levels of society. 

 

2.2 The scope of emissions which is in the direct control of the Council is relatively limited but 

as a local authority, this Council has an important role to play in driving forward and 

influencing the efforts required to ensure a sustainable future for our communities. 

 

2.3 This draft Climate Change Strategy is for SELCP and seeks to provide an overarching 

framework to reduce emissions as a whole across South Holland, Boston and East Lindsey. It 

identifies the strategic themes that are central to helping achieve the carbon reduction 

ambitions of the UK as a whole as the nation seeks to be net zero by 2050. 

 

2.4 BBC and ELDC have both set their own independent carbon reduction targets as Climate 

Change is included as a strategic priority within their respective Corporate Plans. Any Page 68



difference in pace of action between the three Councils need not impact on the Climate 

Change Strategy itself. 

 

2.5 The inclusion of this Council within the strategy has been taken very recently and so this 

current draft is ‘light touch’ at this time in terms of information relating to South Holland. As 

the consultation period progresses and further discussions are held, additional context will 

be added to ensure the document is as balanced as possible for the three Councils. The 

three-way approach will give greater strength in drawing down necessary external funding 

as efforts can be shown to be based on a clear strategic need. 

 

2.6 It is envisaged that delivery of the Strategy will be the responsibility of a new South and East 

Lincolnshire Climate Action Network, with the support of SELCP. SELCAN will bring together 

stakeholder representatives from across the area including relevant authorities, business 

leaders, non-governmental organisations and communities. Careful thought will be given to 

managing this successfully given the geographical scale of the area it covers. 

 

2.7 The Strategy has used currently available data alongside recognised local priorities as the 

rationale for a number of key themes relevant to our area: Transport; Built Environment; 

Energy/Renewables; Business; Agriculture/Food; Water (Flood Risk and Drought) and 

Natural Environment. Under each theme, the key challenges and opportunities have been 

identified together with a series of strategic actions that need to be taken forward. These 

will form the basis of the delivery plan which it is intended SELCAN will coordinate once 

established. 

 

2.8 It is important if this Strategy is to succeed that it reflects the aspirations of our local area 

and engagement in its development is therefore key. 

 

2.9 In order to achieve this, it is intended a period of public consultation on the draft Strategy 

will be held in January 2022. A stakeholder workshops will also be arranged in South Holland 

with attendees tasked at looking at the individual themes in detail and given the 

opportunity to bring forward anything they feel has been missed. BBC and ELDC are 

consulting in November/December 2022 as their governance was slightly further advanced. 

 

2.10 Following the consultation period, comments from all three Council areas will be aligned 

into a revised Climate Change Strategy which will be brought back to Cabinet in early 2022 

seeking recommendation of its approval to Council.  

 

2.11 Once Council has approved the document, the newly established SELCAN will be asked to 

adopt the Strategy and move forward with the delivery plan. 

 

3.0  CONCLUSION 
 
3.1   By taking the lead on developing a Climate Change Strategy for South and East Lincolnshire, 

the Councils of South Holland, Boston and East Lindsey are sending a clear message both 
locally, and nationally, that they are committed to playing their part in tackling the 
challenges Climate Change presents but also embracing the opportunities that exist. 

 Page 69



3.2  Success cannot be achieved in isolation and in fostering new relationships and 
strengthening existing ones, the three Councils will promote a coordinated and 
collaborative approach to addressing a global issue.  

 
3.3 Successful delivery of this Strategy will ultimately lead to more vibrant, cohesive and 

healthier communities which understand the importance of a balanced, sustainable future 
in delivering multiple benefits for everyone. 

 
4.0  EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP 

4.1  Pressure on local authorities to take action around the issue of Climate Change is only like 
to grow over the coming months and years as the UK Government seeks to achieve its net 
zero ambitions. Producing this Climate Change Strategy as a South and East Lincolnshire 
Councils Partnership document will avoid the need for duplication of effort, both for the 
Councils, but also for our stakeholders.  

 
4.2 There are strategic opportunities as well as challenges that this document presents and in 

the longer term, this is likely to provide economic, social and environmental growth that 
will be bolstered by working at the larger geographic scale. 

 
5.0  IMPLICATIONS 
 

5.1  SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL’S PARTNERSHIP 

5.1.1  None 

5.2  CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

5.2.1 This Council may wish to consider whether Climate Change should be included given that 

BBC and ELDC have it within their corporate plans. Recognising the impact and 

opportunities that Climate Change can bring to local communities would ensure not only 

that this is fully considered as part of future decision-making processes but also that 

existing work programmes and projects are recognised for the contributions they are 

already making to this agenda. 

5.3  STAFFING 

5.3.1  None 

5.4  CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.4.1 Local authorities have a legal responsibility to agree plans and targets in line with the 

provisions of the Climate Change Act 2008. Not doing so could leave the Council open to 

legal challenge. 

5.5 DATA PROTECTION 

5.5.1  None. 

5.6  FINANCIAL 

5.6.1 There are no immediate financial implications for the Council arising from approval of this 
draft strategy. A small cost outlay will be required to deliver the public 
consultation/stakeholder engagement but this can be managed within existing budgets. 

 Page 70



5.7  RISK MANAGEMENT 

5.7.1  None 

5.8  STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES 

5.8.1 No consultation has been undertaken to date rather than an informal briefing to Cabinet 

members on the proposals. It is intended that the draft Climate Change Strategy will be 

taken to Cabinet on 14 December. If approval is gained there, a public consultation exercise 

will follow in January 2022. 

5.9  REPUTATION 

5.9.1 There is a potential reputational risk if South Holland District Council is not deemed to be 

giving due consideration to the issue of Climate Change, particularly given BBC and ELDC 

have made this a corporate priority and are working hard to publicise the efforts they are 

taking. As the SELCP could lead to additional scrutiny of this Council in that regard. 

5.10  CONTRACTS 

5.10.1 None. 

5.11  CRIME AND DISORDER 

5.11.1 None. 

5.12  EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING 

5.12.1 Climate Change has the potential to impact large sectors of our society and there will be 

gaps as the country moves itself away from fossil fuels to alternative technologies that 

could leave some of our rural areas behind, particularly where low incomes and fuel 

poverty are key concerns. This Strategy will have a role to play in helping identify those 

issues, enabling us to demonstrate at a national policy level where communities could be 

left behind without the necessary planning/engagement. 

5.13  HEALTH AND WELL BEING 

5.13.1  None directly however many of the strategic actions which will stem from the report will 

have benefits for the health and wellbeing of our local communities. 

5.14  CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.14.1 The Climate Change Strategy will not only have a positive impact on driving down carbon 

emissions across South Holland, it will seek to ensure a sustainable future for local 

communities. 

Annual emissions figures for the District are compiled by the Department for Business, 

Energy and Industrial Strategy and continual reductions need to be achieved as we all play 

our part in achieving the UK’s commitment to be net zero by 2050. 

 

6.0  ACRONYMS 

6.1 BBC – Boston Borough Council 

ELDC – East Lindsey District Council 
Page 71



SELCP – South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership 

SELCAN – South and East Lincolnshire Climate Action Network 

 

APPENDICES 

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

APPENDIX A Draft Climate Change Strategy 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used 

in the production of this report. 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council body. 

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Sarah Baker, Climate Change and Environment 

Manager 

sarah.baker@e-lindsey.gov.uk 

Signed off by: Christian Allen 

Approved for publication: Christine Marshall 

 

  

Page 72

mailto:sarah.baker@e-lindsey.gov.uk


FINANCE PROFORMA 

PROFORMA FOR APPROVAL OF THE RELEASE OF RESOURCES 

(CAPITAL AND REVENUE BUDGETS) 

 

FROM:   

THIS PROFORMA PROVIDES THE FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 IN RESPECT OF THE ATTACHED 

     
REPORT:   
REPORT DATE:  
 

OPTION 1 £ Year 1 £ Year 2 £ Year 3 £ Year 4 £ Year 5 
 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 
Revenue      
      
      
      

Total Revenue Cost      

 
Funding required:   Considered by: Date: 
Total capital cost 
 

£  Enter committee here  

Revenue cost 
 

£  Enter Council or 
Cabinet/Executive here 

 

 
Financial Services Comments 
 
 
 
Risk 
 
 
 
Procurement 
 
 
Value for Money Efficiency 

 

 

 

 

 

This FP is valid for 3 months from 

FP date 

If this FP is no longer required please 

advise Finance 

If there are changes to the original report it 

may invalidate this document, it must be 

reviewed by Finance. 

   

 
Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



CLIMATE CHANGE 
STRATEGY 

DRAFT

served by One Team

P
age 75



2 DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Contents
Foreword ....................................................................................................................... 3

Introduction ................................................................................................................ 3

Setting the context ................................................................................................... 4

The Vision ..................................................................................................................... 6

The current picture for South Holland, Boston and East Lindsey ............... 6

How is South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership  
leading by example ................................................................................................... 9

Tackling Climate Change across South Holland, Boston and  
East Lindsey ...............................................................................................................11

Delivering this Strategy .........................................................................................18

Glossary ......................................................................................................................20

Supporting Documents ..........................................................................................21

P
age 76



3 DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Foreword Introduction

Climate Change is widely considered to be one of, if not the 
greatest, challenge facing our society.

Its impact is already being felt, most noticeably through the increasing occurrence of 
extreme weather events such as exceptional rainfall and rising temperatures. Responding 
to the challenges and finding ways to slow down further changes are tasks which 
will take time and require input at all scales from local through to international, from 
individual actions to policy changes at the highest levels.

Local authorities are well placed to drive forward and influence the action required. 
Through the services we deliver, the strategic and regulatory functions we provide and 
through our position as community leaders we can help to educate, guide and implement 
some of the changes we must make as a society to play our part but we will need to 
work together to achieve what is required.

Many of the possible approaches have multiple benefits in not only building resilience 
and driving down emissions, but also in helping to deliver positive outcomes for the 
natural environment and the health and wellbeing of our communities. It is imperative 
that we re-frame the issue of Climate Change to one which demonstrates how taking 
action can improve quality of life for everyone.

The purpose of this Climate Change Strategy is to provide direction around how to 
achieve a more sustainable future across South Holland, Boston and East Lindsey as we 
all work towards a shared net zero target. That must ensure an approach that balances 
economic, social and environmental considerations equally. It is heavily focused on 
mitigation - actions to reduce the impact of human activity on the climate system, 

primarily through reducing greenhouse gas emissions - but some degree of Climate 
Change is still inevitable and adaptation will also have an important role to play.

P
age 77



4 DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Setting the Context
The United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) 
defines Climate Change as, “A change of climate which is attributed directly or 

indirectly to human activity that alters the composition of the global atmosphere 

and which is in addition to natural climate variability observed over comparable 

time periods.” 

They key cause of human contribution to Climate Change is through the 
increased production of Greenhouse Gases (GHGs). GHGs such as carbon 
dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide occur naturally in the Earth’s atmosphere, 
trapping heat and energy from the sun in a process known as the ‘greenhouse 
effect’. Increases to GHG emissions push up levels of heat and energy in the 
Earth’s atmosphere, causing a rise in global temperatures.

To give an indication of how things have changed, carbon dioxide levels in the 
atmosphere are greater than they have been at any point in the last 800,000 
years. The last time the Earth saw similar levels was around 4-million years ago 
when the average temperature was 2-4°C warmer than today, and the sea level 
was 10-25m higher1. 

International Context
The Paris Agreement is a legally binding international treaty on Climate Change 
adopted by 196 parties, including the UK Government, at COP 21 in December 
2015. Its goal is to limit global warming to well below a 2°C increase, preferably 
to a 1.5°C increase, compared to pre-industrial levels.

In response to that decision, the United Nations Intergovernmental Panel on 
Climate Change (IPCC) published a special report in 2018 on the impact a 1.5°C 
rise in global temperatures would have on our planet and the critical steps that 
needed to be taken to try and keep rises below that level.

Action by the UK Government
The 2008 Climate Change Act set out a legal framework for the UK to cut 
greenhouse gas emissions to 80% below 1990 levels by 2050. It represented the first 
global, legally-binding Climate Change mitigation target to be made by a country. 

The Act also established the Committee on Climate Change (CCC), an 
independent body which provides evidence-based advice to Government.  In 
2019, the CCC published its own report, supporting the findings of the IPCC 
and advising the UK Government to revise its long term 2050 carbon emissions. 
This saw a new target adopted to cut GHG emissions to net zero by 2050 with 
the UK Government becoming the first country to nationally declare a Climate 
Emergency in May 2019.

As the UK prepared to host the COP26 climate summit in 2021, the UK’s sixth 
carbon budget set out the world’s most ambitious Climate Change target to 
reduce emissions by 78% by 2035 compared to 1990 levels, with the budget 
also incorporating the UK’s share of international aviation and shipping 
emissions for the first time.1 Siegert, M., Haywood, A. Lunt, D., van de Flierdt, T., Francis, J. (2020) What ancient climates tell us 

about high carbon dioxide concentrations in Earth’s atmosphere, Grantham Institute Briefing Note 
13, Imperial College London. https://doi.org/10.25561/79292.

P
age 78



5 DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

The Local Picture
It is important to try and translate all that is happening at a national and global 
scale into meaningful action at a local level.

In Lincolnshire, while all local authorities are moving at different paces, there 
is a shared common goal to not only achieve net zero but to achieve a more 
sustainable way of living that protects and improves our communities. Those 
involved with Climate Change across the county are working closely together 
to ensure we are sharing knowledge and learning from each other. Lincolnshire 
County Council launched its Green Masterplan in 2020 to set out the guiding 
principles of how we can collectively meet the challenges and opportunities 
Climate Change presents. These are:

• Don’t waste anything - working toward a circular economy

• Consider wider opportunities - working in partnership to share funding, 
experience and networks and prevent duplication of effort.

• Take responsibility and pride - to cherish, protect and improve the county 
we have many reasons to be proud of

Net Zero defined
Many different terms are often associated with reducing emissions but it is 
important to understand the distinctions between them.

Achieving net zero emissions means to pursue an ambitious 1.5°C aligned 
science-based target for full value chain emissions i.e. Scope 1, 2 and 3 
emissions. Where any residual emissions remain these can be offset with 
certified Greenhouse Gas removal mechanisms such as tree planting or carbon 
capture technology.

Scope Emission 
Type

Definition Examples

Scope 1 Direct 
Emissions

Emissions from sources directly 
owned or controlled by the 
reporting body

Natural gas, fleet

Scope 2 Indirect 
Emissions

Indirect emissions from the 
generation of purchased energy 
consumed by the reporting body

Electricity

Scope 3 Upstream and downstream 
emissions that occur in the value 
chain of the reporting body

Business travel and 
commuting, waste, 
water, procured 
goods and services

This contrasts with, for example, carbon neutral targets which may not account 
for all emissions Scopes and which allow emissions to be offset by high quality, 
certified carbon credits.

P
age 79



6 DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Carbon Management Hierarchy
The key priority in seeking to reduce emissions is that there should be a 
hierarchical approach to their management which seeks to eliminate them as far 
as possible, followed by carbon and energy reduction and then by substitution 
measures such as low-carbon alternatives like renewable energy. Compensation 
measures are then the final step once other options have been exhausted.

These principles are best outlined in the IEMA Greenhouse Gas Management 
Hierarchy (updated 2020):

ELIMINATE • Influence business decisions / use to prevent GHG 
emissions across the lifecycle

• Potential exists when organisations change, expand, 
rationalise or move business

• Transition to new business model, alternative operation 
or new product/service

REDUCE • Real and relative (per unit) reductions in carbon and 
energy

• Efficiency in operations, processes, fleet and energy 
management

• Optimise approaches (e.g. technology and digital as 
enablers)

SUBSTITUTE • Adopt renewables/low carbon technologies (on site, 
transport, etc)

• Reduce carbon (GHG) intensity of energy use and of 
energy purchased

• Purchase inputs and services with lower embodied/
embedded emissions

COMPENSATE • Compensate ‘unavoidable’ residual emissions (removals, 
offsets etc)

• Investigate land management, value chain, asset sharing, 
carbon credits

• Support climate action and developing carbon markets

The Vision

The areas covered by South Holland District Council,  
Boston Borough Council and East Lindsey District 
Council achieve net zero emissions in advance of the 
UK Government. In doing so, action supports social, 
economic and environmental outcomes that help 
adapt and mitigate to climate change and build a more 
sustainable future for our local communities.

The current picture for South 
Holland, Boston and East Lindsey
Carbon dioxide (CO2) is the main greenhouse gas, accounting for 80% of GHG 
emissions in the UK in 20192. Data published by the Department for Business, 
Energy and Industrial Strategy on an annual basis provides the latest estimates 
of end-user CO2 emissions for local authority areas in the UK.

2 UK local authority carbon dioxide emissions estimates 2019

P
age 80



7 DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

South Holland
Emissions in South Holland reduced by 25.8% between 2005 and 2019. The 
three largest contributing sectors are transport, domestic properties and land 
use, land use change and forestry.

kt CO2 
(2019)

Detail

Transport 190.7 Emissions include freight and passenger transport, 
both for private and business purposes

Housing 140.5 Emissions from energy consumption in and around 
the home

Land Use, 
Land Use 
Change and 
Forestry 
(LULUCF)

109.2 Emissions/removals of CO2 from changes in the 
carbon stock in forestland, cropland, grassland, 
wetlands, settlements and harvested wood 
products, and of other greenhouse gases from 
drainage (excl. croplands and intensive grasslands) 
and rewetting of soils, nitrogen mineralisation 
associated with loss and gain of soil organic matter, 
and fires.

Industrial 91.1 Emissions from businesses defined as UK Standard 
Industrial Classification (SIC07) subsections 01-32, 
35-39 & 42

Commercial 44.3 All other SIC07 subsections

Agriculture 20.1 Emissions of greenhouse gases from livestock, 
agricultural soils (excluding carbon stock changes 
which are included in the LULUCF sector) and 
agricultural machinery.

Public Sector 7.2 Emissions from the combustion of fuel in public 
sector buildings, e.g., hospitals and schools. SIC07 
subsections 84-87.

TOTAL 603.1

Boston
In Boston, emissions reduced by 35.29% between 2005 and 2019. Transport and 
domestic properties are again the main two contributors with emissions from 
industry also coming in the top three for emissions.

kt CO2 
(2019)

Detail

Transport 117.5 Emissions include freight and passenger transport, 
both for private and business purposes

Housing 94.9 Emissions from energy consumption in and around 
the home

Industrial 52.8 Emissions from businesses defined as UK Standard 
Industrial Classification (SIC07) subsections 01-32, 
35-39 & 42

Commercial 21.9 All other SIC07 subsections

Agriculture 9.5 Emissions of greenhouse gases from livestock, 
agricultural soils (excluding carbon stock changes 
which are included in the LULUCF sector) and 
agricultural machinery.

Public Sector 8.7 Emissions from the combustion of fuel in public 
sector buildings, e.g., hospitals and schools. SIC07 
subsections 84-87.

LULUCF 8.3 Emissions/removals of CO2 from changes in the 
carbon stock in forestland, cropland, grassland, 
wetlands, settlements and harvested wood 
products, and of other greenhouse gases from 
drainage (excl. croplands and intensive grasslands) 
and rewetting of soils, nitrogen mineralisation 
associated with loss and gain of soil organic matter, 
and fires. 

TOTAL 313.7

P
age 81



8 DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

3 Gouldson, A. Sudmant, A. Duncan, A. (2019). “A summary carbon roadmap for Boston”. Place 
based Climate Action Network, https://pcancities.org.uk/

East Lindsey
Emissions in East Lindsey reduced by 27.31% between 2005 and 2019. The 
three largest contributing sectors are transport, domestic properties and land 
use, land use change and forestry.

kt CO2 
(2019)

Detail

Transport 274.2 Emissions include freight and passenger transport, 
both for private and business purposes.

Housing 224.9 Emissions from energy consumption in and around 
the home

Land Use, 
Land Use 
Change and 
Forestry 
(LULUCF)

174.0 Emissions/removals of CO2 from changes in the 
carbon stock in forestland, cropland, grassland, 
wetlands, settlements and harvested wood products, 
and of other greenhouse gases from drainage (excl. 
croplands and intensive grasslands) and rewetting 
of soils, nitrogen mineralisation associated with loss 
and gain of soil organic matter, and fires.

Industrial 90 Emissions from businesses defined as UK Standard 
Industrial Classification (SIC07) subsections 01-32, 
35-39 & 42.

Commercial 66.2 All other SIC07 subsections.

Agriculture 49.9 Emissions of greenhouse gases from livestock, 
agricultural soils (excluding carbon stock changes 
which are included in the LULUCF sector) and 
agricultural machinery.

Public Sector 15.1 Emissions from the combustion of fuel in public 
sector buildings, e.g., hospitals and schools. SIC07 
subsections 84-87.

TOTAL 894.2

The Inter-governmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) has argued that from 
2020, keeping within a global carbon budget of 344 billion tonnes of GHG 
emissions would give us a 66% chance of limiting average warming to 1.5 
degrees and therefore avoiding dangerous levels of climate change.

If we divide this global figure up on an equal basis by population, this gives East 
Lindsey a total carbon budget of 6 megatonnes (i.e. 6 million tonnes) from 20203.

Based only on the fuel and electricity used within its boundaries, East Lindsey 
currently emits c.0.8 million tonnes of carbon a year, meaning that it would use 
up its carbon budget in just over 7.5 years.

With on-going decarbonisation of electricity, and taking into account population 
and economic growth, it is projected that East Lindsey’s 2005 level of emissions 
will have fallen by 44% by 2050. If however it is to stay within its carbon 
budget, East Lindsey needs to reduce its emissions by 9.5% year on year.

Business As Usual and Science-based pathway for East Lindsey.

P
age 82



9 DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Similarly, Boston has a budget of 3 megatonnes (i.e. 3 million tonnes) which at 
current rates would be exhausted in 9 years. However, Boston could stay within 
its carbon budget by reducing its emissions by 8.2% year on year.

Business As Usual and Science-based pathway for Boston.

The carbon budget for South Holland is currently being calculated.

How is South and East Lincolnshire 
Councils Partnership leading by 
example?

Focus 1: Reduce the carbon footprint of our 
own activities
Both East Lindsey District Council (ELDC) and Boston Borough Council (BBC) 
have engaged the Carbon Trust to produce Carbon Reduction Plans for their own 
operations. The ELDC plan was adopted in November 2019 and the BBC plan is 
due to be finalised in Autumn 2021. 

Both Councils have adopted net zero commitments in advance of the UK 
Government with ELDC specifying a target to reduce emissions from its own 
operations by 45% by 2027 and to net zero by 2040. Action Plans setting out 
the projects and initiatives required to deliver the reductions needed are being 
implemented to ensure progress remains on track.

Adapting and mitigating to climate change requires an holistic approach to 
sustainability in addition to emissions reductions. Both Councils have agreed 
priorities within their Corporate Strategies in relation to tackling climate change. 
New Environment Policies have also been adopted to set out the framework for 
how they will work to protect the natural environment for residents and visitors.

South Holland District Council joined with Boston and East Lindsey to form the 
South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership (SELCP) in September 2021. 
This provides an opportunity to understand existing actions the Council has 

P
age 83



10 DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

taken which contribute to the agenda whilst also working closely with Boston 
and East Lindsey to identify opportunities to align policy and processes where 
appropriate.

Leading by example is key and through both existing service provision and 
new developments and initiatives we will ensure implications for our carbon 
footprints are fully considered from the outset.

Focus 2: Support and facilitate partnership 
working of stakeholders throughout South 
Holland, Boston and East Lindsey to take action 
to achieve net zero emissions across the area
All three Councils have a key role to play in both leading by example and 
supporting the wider community to deliver this climate change strategy. While 
their sphere of influence is limited, they are well placed to drive and influence 
change through the services they deliver, as trusted community leaders and 
through their regulatory and strategic functions. Key activities will include:

• Support the vulnerable and fuel-poor households with energy efficiency 
measures

• Local Plans that supports sustainable development and climate change 
adaptation/mitigation

• Guidance for businesses on adaptation to climate change

• Work with businesses to understand and reduce their carbon footprints

• Support town and parish councils to take action at a local level

• Identify strategic sites for biodiversity net gain and carbon offsetting 
initiatives

• Strengthen and enhance existing ecological networks to build resilience 
to climate change

• Ensure spatial planning plays a key role in the transition to a low-carbon 
society

Focus 3: Climate Change Adaptation
Adaptation: Adjustments to natural or human systems in response to the 
actual or anticipated impacts of climate change, to mitigate harm or 
exploit beneficial opportunities.

• Undertake a comprehensive risk-based assessment of vulnerabilities to 
weather and climate within the SELCP area

• Develop an adaptation plan that details the SELCP’s response to the 
evidence of our changing climate

• Review procurement procedures to embed adaptation and mitigation 
approaches into key contracts and services

• Ensure effective partnership working to address climate change risks 
across administrative boundaries

P
age 84



11 DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Tackling Climate Change across 
South Holland, Boston and East 
Lindsey
The scope of emissions that is in the direct control or influence of the three 
councils is relatively small. This strategy seeks to provide an overarching 
framework to reduce emissions as a whole across South Holland, Boston and 
East Lindsey.

A number of strategic themes have been identified as central to the road to net 
zero, but achieving the necessary outcomes will need cross sector input from a 
wide range of stakeholders working towards a common goal.

Many of the themes will also involve a number of cross-cutting elements and 
taking forward action will require an holistic view of the interdependencies and 
multiple benefits that are at play.

Key themes

Transport

Built Environment

Energy/Renewables

Business

Agriculture/Food

Water  
(Flood Risk and Drought)

Natural Environment

P
age 85



12 DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Transport

Emissions from the transport sector are the largest contributors to the carbon 
footprints of the SELCP area accounting for 37% of Boston’s total emissions, 
32% of South Holland’s and 31% of East Lindsey’s. Emissions attributable to 
transport across all three areas are rising as a proportion of all emissions. 

Reducing emissions and the promotion of more sustainable travel solutions are 
included to some extent in existing travel plans and strategies in the county with 
a new Lincolnshire Transport Plan due to be adopted in early 2022. A Ultra-Low 
Emission Vehicle Strategy is currently in progress and set to be agreed in 2021.

An Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) currently exists at Haven Bridge and 
Boston Borough Council coordinates an Action Plan which includes steps that 
will achieve mutually beneficial outcomes.

Challenges/Opportunities

Development of the Port of Boston as a fresh fruit and vegetables hub is already 
starting to tackle the need for lower carbon supply chains. Furthermore, Town 
Deals for both Boston and Skegness include plans to enhance their respective 
railway stations along with the growth of walking and cycling options.

A large number of businesses, particularly in the agri-food supply chain across 
Boston and South Holland, rely on the road network to support their operations 
to ensure timely delivery and dispatch of produce.

The rural nature of the area means limited public transport networks will make 
decarbonising transport a challenging task in the years ahead with residents 

often having to travel several kilometres to access key services such as doctors 
and supermarkets. While electric vehicles provide one option, as technology 
advances it is likely there will be a mixture of solutions adopted.

Strategic actions
• Prioritise the development of an EV policy/strategy for ensuring correct 

positioning of charging infrastructure across the area based on modelling 
current and predicted future requirements

• Maximise the potential of public transport links together with walking 
and cycling options and explore opportunities to decarbonise public 
transport through new and emerging technology.

• Promote both the continuation and expansion of new ways of working 
developed during the Covid-19 pandemic, to reduce the need for regular 
commuting and unnecessary travel

Built Environment

Emissions from energy consumption in and around domestic properties is the 
second largest contributor to carbon emissions across the area. Without action 
emissions in this sector are predicted to increase by 2050 by as much 8% across 
South Holland, Boston and East Lindsey.

The challenges in this sector going forward are two-fold: both ensuring that new 
builds and retrofits of existing properties are fit for the future but also ensuring 
that developments continue to be considered economically viable once new 
technologies are incorporated.

P
age 86



13 DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

The communities of South and East Lincolnshire are rural in nature with high 
proportions of off-gas grid properties still reliant on solid-fuel systems. A 
range of initiatives will be required to educate and find solutions to alternative 
methods of heating residents’ homes.

Challenges/Opportunities

Currently all new developments must meet the energy efficiency standards 
required by UK Building Regulations. The Government is consulting on updated 
standards for new homes which are expected to include a ban on gas boilers 
from 2025 amongst other measures.

Engagement with developers will be key to finding solutions which will enable 
the development of affordable, energy efficient homes.

There is also an increasing understanding of the need to reduce embodied 
carbon in new build and retrofit schemes and this is likely to gain further 
traction in the next few years.

Strategic actions
• Embed climate change mitigation and adaptation within strategic 

planning policies

• Encourage and promote efficient use of energy in the home

• Foster exemplar approaches to sustainable design and adaptive 
technologies

• Support residents to access available funding to improve energy 
efficiency and reduce fuel poverty

• Encourage a better understanding of current embodied carbon levels within 
new developments and work with the industry to identify low carbon 
alternatives and where offsetting options may need to be developed

Energy/Renewables

Taken as a whole across the different sectors, energy consumption is the largest 
source of emissions across the area. Whether through the heating of private 
or public sector property or through energy usage as part of industrial and 
commercial processes, there will need to be significant changes to the way 
energy is both produced and consumed.

In terms of energy demand, South Holland, East Lindsey and Boston all perform 
poorly on fuel poverty with all three having a higher percentage of households 
in fuel poverty than the national average.

A key challenge for the whole area is in terms of network capacity which at 
times are currently presenting a barrier to renewable generation and storage. 
Engagement with the Distribution Network Operators will be essential as will 
the ability to project accurately potential expansion and take up of particular 
technologies to ensure the energy infrastructure is able to meet demand.

Challenges/Opportunities

Nationally, renewable energy generation continues to grow with 42% of 
electricity produced in 2020 from wind, solar, water and wood compared with 
41% generated from gas and coal plants. If this growth on the path to net 
zero is to continue however, small scale renewables solutions together with 
larger scale developments are going to be essential to achieving the net zero 
aspirations. 

P
age 87



14 DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Strategic actions
• Prioritise the development of appropriate Local Area Energy Plan(s)

• To increase the proportion of energy generated by renewable sources 
across the SELCP area

• Encourage and promote viable decentralised energy opportunities and 
renewables options where appropriate

• Achieve a future-proofed energy distribution network without constraints 
which supports new connections and storage initiatives

• Support businesses and householders to install renewable energy systems

Business

Emissions from industrial and commercial activities combined make up another 
significant proportion of the carbon footprint of the SELCP area.

The employment share by sector can be broken down as shown below, with 
key areas including public admin, education and health; wholesale and retail; 
business, financial and professional services and manufacturing. The main 
difference is the significant proportion of accommodation and food services 
employment in East Lindsey.

Challenges/Opportunities

Since the height of the Covid-19 pandemic in early 2020, many businesses 
have adopted new ways of working in particular with many employees working 
from home and reducing business travel. Harnessing those gains needs to be 
continued to ensure a green recovery.

Consumers have a large power of influence and businesses are set to see 
increasing pressure to meet the challenges and opportunities of moving towards 
circular economy - reducing waste and protecting natural resources.

Strategic actions
• Encourage sustainable procurement practices that support local supply 

chains and fosters the building of a circular economy

• Support and advise local businesses on understanding their current 
carbon footprint and identifying routes to decarbonise their operations

• Promote and foster opportunities for businesses to grow and develop 
within the low carbon and renewables sector

• Introduce Carbon Charter Award scheme for businesses to showcase their 
climate change credentials

P
age 88



15 DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Agriculture/Food

Agriculture is one of the dominant industries across the South and East 
Lincolnshire Councils Partnership area. The Agri-Food industry as a whole plays a 
major role in the region’s economy and the development of a South Lincolnshire 
Food Enterprise Zone at Holbeach aims to promote innovation within the sector 
including areas such as low carbon technology. 

The sector has a relatively unique position in being able to influence both 
emissions and sequestration of GHGs. Unlike most other sectors however, only 
around 10% of emissions are carbon dioxide with nitrous dioxide and methane 
making up the majority. These can be more complex to address because of the 
involvement of natural processes.

Arable cropping and salad/vegetables are the primary production types across 
the area but there are also a number of livestock operations.

Farmed area by type (hectares)

No. of 
holdings

Farmed 
area

Cereals Arable 
(exc 
cereals)

Fruit and 
Veg

Grassland

Boston 277 31,894 10,969 8,274 7,149 3,368

East 
Lindsey

1,131 145,462 70,540 36,576 6,237 21,097

South 
Holland

608 64,062 30,050 18,806 7,126 3,395

P
age 89



16 DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Challenges/Opportunities

Agriculture is not only well placed to lead on changes to reduce emissions. 
Farmers are also the custodians of our natural environment and have an 
important role to play in nature’s recovery with innovative solutions offering the 
opportunity to deliver multiple benefits to society.

There will be challenges ahead as the impact of our diets on climate change 
continues to undergo scrutiny and a new Agriculture Bill seeks to deliver 
significant changes to the way farm support is delivered.

Strategic actions
• Promote and support innovation in the farming sector to enable more 

sustainable farming practices

• Educate and encourage residents to access affordable, local and seasonal 
food through promoting local supply chains and food markets

• Identify opportunities and support farmers to access mechanisms to 
enable less productive land to be used for environmental schemes which 
also deliver multiple benefits to society

Water  
(Flood Risk and Drought)

Water is a key theme because it covers not only consumption and resource 
management but also flood risk from coastal inundation, rivers and surface 
water.

The South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership area is particularly 
vulnerable to climate change impacts because of a relatively low rainfall and its 
low-lying nature with a long coastline. 

In East Lindsey alone, 38% of the District is at risk from coastal inundation 
alone, with additional risk over coming from surface water flooding i.e. from 
rivers, drains and localised flooding.

Across the area, the considerable risk of flooding is substantially reduced by the 
work of internal drainage boards in partnership with other bodies such as the 
Environment Agency.

Challenges/Opportunities

Climate change is expected to lead to warmer and drier summers together with 
milder and wetter winters and the ability to manage water to ensure supply is 
available where and when it is needed is essential.

Given the area’s coastal geography, sea level rise undoubtedly presents one of 
the biggest challenges for the future and partnership working will be vital to 
ensuring effective adaptation and mitigation strategies.

P
age 90



17 DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Strategic actions
• Promote technologies and behaviours that reduce water consumption 

across all domestic and commercial sectors

• Work with developers to reduce water consumption demand in new 
builds and conversions

• Support initiatives to improve the management of waterways and coastal 
areas to reduce flood risk and benefit the natural environment

• Ensure strategic partnership working delivers long-term coastal change 
management and planning, as well as building resilience to communities 
at risk of coastal and riverine flooding through adaptation and mitigation 
with clear lines of communication between all parties

Natural Environment

Climate change will add to the increasing pressures on our natural environment 
but if managed correctly, the natural environment can also play a key role in 
how we mitigate for and adapt to the challenges it presents.

The SELCP area is fortunate to be home to Lincolnshire Wolds Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty with the internationally important estuaries of The 
Wash and The Humber on its doorstep. It has a total of 74 designated sites of 
national/international importance.

There are also 514 locally designated biodiversity and geodiversity sites in South 
Holland, Boston and East Lindsey although just 41% are considered as being 
‘positively’ managed - the vast majority are in Boston and South Holland.

Challenges/Opportunities

Carbon sequestration, water storage, water quality, flood protection and urban 
cooling can all be delivered through a well-managed natural environment 
together with a range of societal benefits such as green tourism and improved 
health and wellbeing.

A new Environment Bill looks set to give local authorities an important role to 
play in nature’s recovery not only through putting spatial planning for nature on 
a statutory footing but also in working in partnership to ensure a Local Nature 
Recovery Strategy delivers action which enables both nature and people to 
thrive.

Strategic actions
• Encourage and promote land use change and management decisions that 

help both nature and people mitigate and adapt to climate change

• Work in partnership to ensure gains for the natural environment are 
delivered in a strategic manner with long-term plans to ensure effective 
management is maintained

• Where tree planting is part of the solution, ensure a ‘right tree in the right 
place’ approach is taken

• Promote and understanding of the economic benefits that a well-
managed natural environment can bring to the SELCP area

P
age 91



18 DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Delivering this Strategy
The South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership is well placed to facilitate 
the delivery of this strategy but this can only be achieved with the full support 
of stakeholders from across the public and private sector together with local 
community engagement.

Meeting the net zero ambition of the UK as a whole will require action on 
every level but will only achieve the necessary results through education, 
through sharing knowledge and best practice and ultimately through working in 
partnership.

South and East Lincolnshire Climate Action 
Network (SELCAN)
The key delivery mechanism for taking forward this strategy will be through 
the establishment of the South and East Lincolnshire Climate Action Network 
(SELCAN). Facilitated by three Councils, SELCAN will bring together private, 
public and community sectors to jointly tackle climate change.

Its remit will be to drive strategic thinking and promote on the ground delivery 
and implementation of projects to reduce emissions across South Holland, 
Boston and East Lindsey and build a more sustainable future.

Representation will be through a number of seats identified for each key sector, 
designed to provide a cross section across the area. SELCAN will meet quarterly 
but may choose to establish small working groups where issues are felt to be 
particularly sector or geographically specific.

SELCAN will be an independent body which owns, monitors and reviews 
progress against the strategy with secretariat provided by South Holland District 
Council, Boston Borough Council and East Lindsey District Council.

Communications
This strategy has been produced by the South and East Lincolnshire Councils 
Partnership but is a strategy for the whole area.

The success of its delivery is dependent on:

• The effectiveness of the leadership and the commitment within the 
public sector and private sector in working towards a net zero future

• Every individual, business and organisation in South Holland, Boston 
and East Lindsey being aware of the challenges ahead and having an 
understanding of the actions that can be taken

• Effective engagement with everyone making effective, lasting, cultural 
changes to play their part in a net zero future

To this end, communication will be key and the engagement plan sets out the 
outcomes that need to be achieved:

P
age 92



19 DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

How will this be achieved? Timescale How will it be monitored?

Ensure every individual, business and organisation is aware of 
the Climate Change Strategy and what it seeks to achieve

Media campaign, public 
consultation, engagement events, 
e-Messenger

Next 12 
months

Engagement with consultation and events

People living and working in South Holland, Boston and East 
Lindsey understand climate change and its potential impacts 
on our area

Media campaigns, engagement 
events, 

1-3 years Climate change questions included in residents 
surveys. Responses can be compared

All sectors are actively participating in SELCAN and working 
to achieve a cultural change towards a sustainable future for 
Boston and East Lindsey

Direct approaches to key sector 
representatives, online presence, 
strong partnership working, 
SELCAN ambassadors

1-3 years Monitored by numbers of stakeholders 
pro-actively participating in SELCAN with 
representation across the identified sectors

Individuals, businesses and organisations understand where 
they can make a difference and are seeking to play their part

Workshops, business networks, 
toolkits for key sectors

1-3 years Feedback from events and workshops  
Number of enquiries received

South Holland, Boston and East Lindsey are recognised as 
exemplars in how everyone is working together to achieve the 
net zero ambitions of the nation

Carbon Charter Awards, media 
campaigns on success stories, BEIS 
statistics

3-5 years Engagement with Awards, publicity achieved, 
reductions in annual BEIS figures for Boston and 
East Lindsey

P
age 93



20 DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Glossary
Biodiversity net gain - an approach to development and/or land management, 
that aims to leave the natural environment in a measurably better state than it 
was beforehand.

Carbon budget - the quantity of greenhouse gas emissions that can be emitted 
in total over a specified time by a given entity in line with scientific targets to 
keep within certain temperature increase

Carbon credits - a term used to describe a tradeable certificate or permit giving 
the holder a right to emit a measured amount of greenhouse gas.

Carbon footprint - the total greenhouse gas emissions resulting from the 
activities of individual, event, organisation, service or product expressed as 
carbon dioxide equivalent (CO2e).

Carbon offsetting - a mechanism used to compensate for greenhouse gas 
emissions made elsewhere through. Usually through a body funding activities or 
projects that improve or enhance the environment or buying carbon credits to 
balance out the emissions from their own operations.

Carbon neutral - a process of reducing greenhouse gas emissions which allows 
for offsetting through the purchase of high quality, certified carbon credits

Circular economy - an economic system aimed at eliminating waste by keeping 
resources in use for as long as possible, extracting the maximum value from 
them while in use, then recovering and regenerating products and materials at 
the end of their life.

Carbon sequestration - the process of capturing and storing atmospheric 
carbon dioxide

Decentralised energy - projects which generate, use and store energy off the 
main grid including micro-renewables, heating and cooling networks

Ecological networks - the composition of core areas of habitats and corridors 
such as hedgerows or watercourses which enable the free movement of species 
throughout a landscape

Embodied carbon - the total greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions generated to 
produce a built asset. 

Fuel poverty - a situation where a household has fuel costs that are above the 
national average and in spending that amount are left with a residual income 
below the official poverty line.

Greenhouse Gases - gases in the Earth’s atmosphere that trap heat. The main 
greenhouse gases are Carbon Dioxide (CO2), Methane (CH4) and Nitrous Oxide 
(NO2) and are usually expressed in terms of  their Carbon Dioxide equivalent 
value (CO2e)

Local Area Energy Plan - a data driven approach which brings together the 
decarbonisation of heat, transport and power by incorporating in interactions 
and impact on the energy network in a given spatial area

Local Nature Recovery Strategy - spatial strategies which establish priorities 
and map proposals for specific actions to drive nature’s recovery and provide 
wider environmental benefits

Net zero - a process of reducing greenhouse gas emissions whereby any residual 
emissions that remain these can be offset with certified greenhouse gas removal 
mechanisms such as tree planting or carbon capture technology.

Residual emissions - any emissions which remain after all technically and 
economically feasible opportunities have been implemented

Science-based target - a carbon emissions target which is in line with the scale 
of reductions required to keep global temperature increases below 2°C above 
pre-industrial temperatures.

P
age 94



21 DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Scope 1 emissions - direct emissions from sources directly owned or controlled 
by the reporting body such as fleet vehicles or natural gas consumption

Scope 2 emissions - indirect emissions from the generation of purchased 
energy such as electricity

Scope 3 emissions - indirect emissions that occur in the value chain of an 
organisation, be that upstream or downstream, such as business travel, waste 
disposal or water consumption

Urban cooling - a range of methods used to lower temperatures in built-up 
area and reduce the impact of the urban heat island effect

P
age 95



CLIMATE CHANGE 
STRATEGY 

DRAFT

P
age 96



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Report of: Assistant Director - Neighbourhoods  

 

To: Policy Development Panel Tuesday, 16 November 2021; Cabinet Tuesday 14 

December 2021 

 

(Author: Charlotte Paine Head of Environmental and Operational Services) 

 

Subject Fuel Card Policy 

 

Purpose: To note the new fuel card policy  

 

 
Recommendations: 
 
1) To consider the Fuel Card policy prior to submission and proposed adoption by Cabinet. 

 

 

1.0 BACKGROUND 

 

1.1 South Holland District Council delivers a range of services that require an operational fleet 

to ensure the continuation of our great service to residents. Some of these services include 

waste collections, parks and grounds, streets, housing repairs and the dog warden. 

 

1.2 Maintaining an operational fleet means that we must provide a cost effective and efficient 

way of fuelling our vehicles. There are a few ways that this can be achieved, an onsite fuel 

tank or providing fuel cards for refuelling on the go. For SHDC, as we do not have sufficient 

space for a fuel tank at our depot, fuel cards have been the preferred method of fuel 

purchasing for a number of years. 

 

1.3 When using fuel cards, ensuring that robust procurement and monitoring is in place is vital 

to ensure that the cards remain cost efficient and effective for the Council. Therefore, 

having a robust policy, supported by a procedure and training plan, is key to ensuring these 

cards are being used accurately and effectively.  

 

2.0 OPTIONS 

 

2.1 Option One – Adopt the Fuel Card Policy. The purpose of the fuel card policy is to 

provide rules, guidance and procedures for the appropriate use and monitoring of fuel 

cards. Adopting the policy will ensure staff are aware of the rules and their responsibilities. 

This is the recommended option of this report. 

 

2.2 Option Two – Do nothing. By not adopting the policy, SHDC does not support staff and 

provide them a policy which outlines their responsibilities. This lack of clarity risks 

misunderstanding and misuse. 

 

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 

 

Page 97

Agenda Item 11.



3.1 Purchasing fuel is essential for delivery of our frontline services. Ensuring that our fuel is 

purchased in a convenient and financially safe way is crucial to keeping those services 

running and that council spend is transparent and appropriate. 

 

3.2 The policy clearly details the ways that a policy can mitigate potential risks and possible 

fraud opportunities. 

 

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 

 

4.1 The policy sets out how fuel cards should be used and for which products. The benefits of a 

document that sets out clearly the roles and responsibilities for staff, is in the clarity of the 

Councils expectations of those using and monitoring the fuel cards. 

 

4.2 The policy is detailed in how it can safeguard the council in areas of potential risk and 

supports the users and the council by mitigating these risks. 

 

5.0 IMPLICATIONS 

 

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 

decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;  

Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; 

Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 

Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; 

Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be 

implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified below. 

 

5.1 Contracts 

5.1.1 Our fuel card supplier is procured with our procurement team and a review of this is 

underway to ensure our current supplier continues to provide best value and the right 

services to us, including monitoring information to support our policy.  

 

5.2 Financial 

5.2.1 There are no additional financial impacts to this policy, the supplier is being reviewed to 

ensure that they provide SHDC with the best value for fuel purchasing.  

 

5.3 Reputation 

5.3.1 By having a clear policy, SHDC can support its positive reputation of clear financial 

governance and supporting its staff.   

 

5.4 Risk Management 

5.4.1 The policy details risk management of the cards from issuing, to use, monitoring, storage 

and return of the cards. 

 

5.4.2 The policy also supports SHDC as part of its audit framework and requirements for 

accurate financial monitoring and use.  

 

5.5 Staffing 

5.5.1 There are no additional staffing requirements as a part of this policy. The staff that are 

impacted by this policy will also receive a procedure which further details the requirements 

of users as well as ongoing training. 

 

Page 98



5.6 Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales 

5.6.1 It is acknowledged that the introduction of a policy and procedure requires additional 

training to ensure full compliance and understanding of the reasons and benefits of the new 

procedures. Therefore, a training package is being designed to coincide with adoption and 

implementation of the policy.  

 

5.6.2 In addition to this, staff have been consulted along the way whilst drafting the policy and 

procedure, which has ensured they have helped to design a policy that aligns with staff and 

SHDC needs and requirements. There has also been, and will continue to be, ongoing 

communication of the policy, and the best way to implement it, through the environmental 

services staff engagement events. 

 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 

 

6.1 All 

 

7.0 ACRONYMS 

 

7.1 SHDC – South Holland District Council  

 

Background papers:-  

 

Lead Contact Officer 

Name and Post: Charlotte Paine Head of Environmental and Operational Services 

Telephone Number  

Email: cpaine@sholland.gov.uk 

 

Key Decision: N  

 

Exempt Decision: N  

 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service  

 

Appendices attached to this report:  

Appendix A Fuel Card Policy 

 

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 2 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

APPROVED BY: South Holland District Council 
 

APPROVAL DATE: XXXXXX REVIEW DATE: XXXXXXX 
 

DOCUMENT NUMBER: VERSION:  
 

THIS POLICY APPLIES TO: South Holland District Council Employees, Management, 
Staff, Students, Volunteers, other Stakeholders  

   South Holland District Council 

Fuel Card Policy 

Page 101



  FUEL CARD POLICY 

Page 2 of 2 

 

 

Fuel Card Policy  
 

Purpose: 
Fuel cards offer a convenient way for SHDC staff to re-fuel vehicles quickly and efficiently 
in the course of SHDC business, while maintaining maximum safeguards.  
 
The purpose of this policy is to provide rules and guidance for the issuing, appropriate 
use and ongoing monitoring of fuel cards. The Fuel Cards Procedure accompanies this 
policy which sets out further detail on the use and monitoring of fuel card usage and 
supports staff with the practical implications of this policy. 
 
Definitions: 

• The “Fuel Card Supplier” (hereinafter referred to as “Supplier”) is SHDC’s 
preferred fuel card supplier, chosen through a procurement process to ensure the 
best use of public funds when purchasing fuel 

• The “Fuel Card Administrator” (hereinafter referred to as “Administrator”) is 
responsible for administering the fleet card purchases and updating the monitoring 
sheet. 

• The “Fuel Card Supervisor” (hereinafter referred to as “Supervisor”) is responsible 
for issuing of cards, safe keeping of cards returned with keys or via the signing 
in/out process. 

• The “Fuel Card Coordinator” (hereinafter referred to as “Coordinator”) is a head of 
department or service responsible for ensuring that SHDC vehicles and cards are 
used for official SHDC business only. 

• The “Fuel Card User” (hereinafter referred to as “User”) is any SHDC employee 
authorised to use an SHDC issued fuel card. A User is responsible for ensuring 
that their issued SHDC vehicle and fuel card is used for official SHDC business 
only. 

• The “Fuel Cards” (hereinafter referred to as “Cards”) are a method of authorised 
Users obtaining eligible items/fuels at authorised fuel stations. 

 
Full details of the responsibilities of the above are detailed in the Fuel Policy Procedure. 
 
Policy 
Cards are provided to SHDC by the Supplier and issued to Users by the Supervisor. The 
User must obtain a receipt for every purchase, including the odometer reading (where 
applicable) and sign and print name on the receipt. Receipts must be provided to the 
Supervisor at the earliest convenience, or within 7 days of purchase at the latest. The 
administrator is responsible for monitoring the incoming receipts against the Suppliers 
ledger. 
 
Cards may only be used for the purpose intended, the purchase of authorised fuel or 
lubrications for the relevant SHDC vehicle or equipment. It is expressly forbidden to use 
the Card to purchase fuel or lubricant for any privately owned vehicle or equipment, other 
than the vehicle or equipment the card is provided. Any employee found to be in breach of 
this requirement will be deemed to have committed an act of gross misconduct and will be 
subject to disciplinary action. SHDC reserve the right to deduct any expenses relating to 
recovery or making good. 

Page 102



  FUEL CARD POLICY 

Page 3 of 2 

 

 

 
These permissions will be made clear when the card is issued. All Users will have been 
issued this policy, the procedure and required to sign the Terms of Use to confirm they 
understand their responsibilities as a fuel card User. Further detail of this, including the 
issuing process, is detailed further in the Fuel Card Procedure.  
 
Cards will only be able to make the following authorised purchases, but not all cards will 
have all these permissions: 

• Purchase of diesel 

• Purchase of petrol 

• Purchase of lubricants 
 

The receipts, with odometer reading (where applicable), alongside the Supplier ledger, 
aid in monitoring the costs and efficiency of vehicle fleet operation. For reasons of 
accurate recording of costs, usage and overall control and management of the fleet and 
fuel consumption, additional information is required. This includes User initials and tool 
monitoring sheets for areas such as use of ground maintenance equipment. Further 
details of which can be found in the Fuel Policy Procedure. 
 
To assist with these different types of fuel purchasing requirements, there are two 
different types of cards: 
 

• Vehicle cards – these cards are provided for use on a specific vehicle, with the 
vehicle registration printed on the card. Only the vehicle specified on the card 
should be filled with fuel using this card. The card should be kept with the keys to 
the vehicle, and it is the responsibility of the User given the keys that day to ensure 
these are kept together and safe at all times, until they are returned to a 
supervisor.  

 

• Bearer cards – these cards are not specific to a vehicle and are used to ensure 
there is suitable capacity of cards available at all times. In most cases these cards 
will be used for filling up motorised tools or hire vehicles. These cards will be 
assigned to an individual, and that User will be responsible for the sole and proper 
use and safety of that card until it is signed back in, having been returned to the 
supervisor. The amount of bearer cards should be kept to a minimum. 

 
Risk Management and Fraud Control 
 

• Supervisors will issue cards to Users that are eligible for a card and ensure that all 
Users have signed the Terms of Use agreement. 

• Users are to ensure that the card is used for the purchase of fuel and lubricants 
relating to Council business only. 

• Users will be required to sign a Terms of Use agreement acknowledging their 
compliance with the fuel card policy and procedure, once adopted by SHDC, before 
using a card to purchase any fuel or lubricants. 

• Supervisors will be responsible for collecting cards at the end of each day, for those 
that are required to be returned. 

• The administrator will monitor the use of cards via the receipts and supplier ledger, 

Page 103



  FUEL CARD POLICY 

Page 4 of 2 

 

 

at least fortnightly and raise any concerns immediately to the Coordinator.  

• Annual reviews of the usage of the fuel card will be conducted by the Coordinator. 
A report will be submitted to the Senior Management Team, by exception, detailing 
any issues on the use of the fuel cards over the past 12 months. 

• Where a card is lost, stolen or damaged the User must notify the Supervisor 
immediately. Steps will then be taken, by the Supervisor, to rectify the situation. This 
may include cancelling the card and, if required, reissuing a new card. 

• Inappropriate use of cards will be referred to the Coordinator and, where necessary, 
the Senior Management Team. Appropriate measures will be taken to ensure 
adherence to the Policy and Procedure. These measures may include cancellation 
of the card, or any other measures deemed necessary by the Coordinator. This 
could include disciplinary action. 

• It is the responsibility of the User to return the fuel card to the Supervisor on 
resignation from SHDC. The Coordinator will follow up on any cards that are not 
returned. The cards will be cancelled where this occurs. 

• Other methods of payment, such as P-Card, are only to be used in exceptional 
circumstances. An example of this is where there are no service stations that accept 
a Council operated fuel cards or during emergency situations, such as fuel 
shortages. The employee or associate must make every effort to seek out a service 
station that accepts a Council operated fuel card.  
 

Standard and duty of care: 
All Users must make sure they understand and abide by the policy and procedure to 
ensure correct usage of cards and safeguarding Users and SHDC. Users must raise with 
a Supervisor any concerns or clarifications required.  All Users have a duty of care not to 
let unauthorised people use the card and to prevent negligent use of the card and will be 
required to confirm all usage against the card under their responsibility.  The card should 
be kept in a safe place and should be reported to the Supervisor immediately if lost or 
stolen. 

 
 

Related documents 

• Fuel Card Procedure 

• Terms of Use Agreement 

• Jerry can equipment checklist 

• Tool, Equipment and Vehicle Monitoring Sheets 

Page 104



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Report of: Assistant Director - Regulatory  

 

To: Policy Development Panel Tuesday, 16 November 2021 

Cabinet, 14th December 2021  

 

(Author: Donna Hall Head of Public Protection) 

 

Subject Corporate Enforcement Policy 

 

Purpose: To seek approval of a revised corporate Enforcement Policy 

 

 
Recommendations:  
 
1) That the revised Corporate Enforcement Policy be considered by the Policy Development 

panel 
 

2) That the revised Corporate Enforcement Policy be recommended to go to Cabinet for 
approval 
 

3) That Head of Public Protection and the Assistant Director Regulatory be given delegated 
authority to make such amendments to this policy as may from time to time be required in 
order to (i) reference any links or amended links to other documents as may be required; and 
(ii) reflect any issues over which the Council has no discretion including, but not limited to, 
references to any legislative changes and amended guidance. Any material amendments to 
the policy will be subject to the usual approval process in line with the Constitution.  
 

4) That all Service Managers responsible for enforcement action under this policy be given 
delegated authority to take, in exceptional circumstances, such action in departure from any 
part of this policy as they consider appropriate subject to (i) the reasons for such departure 
being documented; and (ii) consultation with the relevant portfolio holder or Committee 
Chairman. 
 

 

1.0 BACKGROUND 

 

1.1 The Council is responsible for enforcing a wide range of legislation, with powers of 

enforcement usually delegated to individual officers in the various service areas concerned. 

The decision to take (or not take) enforcement action is a serious one that may have 

implications for all involved. It is therefore important that there is a policy in place that 

ensures fairness, openness, and consistency.  

 

1.2 Regulatory activities can take different forms including: 

• Inspecting premises, processes, equipment, vehicles, products 

• Investigating complaints about individuals and business 

• Providing advice about how to comply with the law 

• Taking action at Licensing Panels or undertaking Licensing Reviews 

• Issuing fixed penalty notices, statutory notices or taking prosecutions 

 

Page 105

Agenda Item 12.



1.3  Cabinet approved a revised Enforcement Policy in May 2018 which was significantly 

updated at that time to reflect the national Regulators’ Code. The policy has now been 

refreshed as part of a three-yearly review. 

 

1.4  The Regulators’ Code remains in place but has not been updated since it came into 

statutory effect in 2014. It provides a clear flexible and principles-based framework for how 

regulators should engage with those they regulate.  The Code however does not apply to 

the Town and Country Planning Act nor building regulation enforcement. The principles of 

the Code however are adopted through this policy across all areas. The revised policy 

continues to reflect these principles, which we are required to have regard to when 

developing policies and procedures that guide our regulatory activities. 

 

1.5  The policy has been reviewed and updated in consultation with the following departments: 

Legal; Communities; Housing; Environmental Services; Public Protection; Revenue and 

Benefits; Planning and Building Control; Finance. 

 

1.6  The amendments and additions to the policy are highlighted in yellow in the draft policy, 

which is attached at Appendix A to this report. In summary, there are no changes to the 

principles of the policy, but the following inclusions are being proposed: 

  

• Footnotes and hyperlinks now included  

• Scope of the policy extended to include a deviation clause (section 3) 

• Updated legislation for investigations (section 5) 

• Reference to offence of obstruction (section 5.1) 

• New section on training and appointment of officers (section 5.3) 

• Further information on the refusal, suspension and revocation of licences (section 6.1 h) 

• New section on Proceeds of Crime Act (section 6.1 i) 

• New section on safeguarding (section 7.0) 

 

 

2.0 OPTIONS 

 

2.1 Provide feedback on the revised Enforcement Policy and agree it to go to Cabinet for 

approval with the recommended delegations 

 

2.2 Provide feedback on the revised Enforcement Policy and agree it go to Cabinet without the 

recommended delegations 

 

2.3 Do nothing and retain the previous 2018 version of the policy. 

 

 

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 

 

3.1 To ensure legal compliance and best practice, it is recommended that the policy is 

considered and taken to Cabinet for approval. 

 

 

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 

 

Page 106



4.1 The revised policy sets out the standards that will be applied across the Council when 

acting in its role as regulator. It also sets out what residents, businesses and workers can 

expect from South Holland. 

 

4.2 The adoption of the revised policy helps to ensure that officers undertaking regulatory work 

will do so in a consistent and transparent way and in accordance with legal requirements. 

 

4.3  An enforcement policy helps the Council to demonstrate it is working in accordance with 

the Regulators’ Code and reduces the risk of challenge in the courts.  

 

5.0 IMPLICATIONS 

 

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 

decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;  

Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; 

Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 

Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; 

Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be 

implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified below. 

 

 

5.1 Constitutional & Legal 

 

5.1.1 The revised policy has been considered by Legal Services 

 

5.1.2 Under the terms of the Constitution approval of this policy is a Cabinet function 

 

 

5.2 Corporate Priorities 

 

5.2.1  Enforcement supports the following Council priorities: 

• Your Home; 

• Your Place; 

• Your Health and Wellbeing; 

• Your Opportunity; and Our Council. 
 

5.3 Crime and Disorder 

 

5.3.1  The report outlines the Councils approach to tackling crime and disorder. There are no 

implications arising from this report. 

 

5.4 Data Protection 

 

5.4.1 Data protection requirements and principles have been addressed within the policy, 

including the sharing of information with other agencies. 

 

5.5 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights 

 

5.5.1 The proposed amendments to the policy do not give rise to any equality, diversity, or 

human rights implications. 

 

Page 107



5.6 Health & Wellbeing 

 

5.6.1 This report supports the regulatory work undertaken by the Council to promote health and 

wellbeing of residents, visitors and workers. 

 

5.7 Reputation 

 

5.7.1 The adoption of the revised policy supports the Council’s approach to regulatory activity as 

being fair and proportionate, promoting a positive image of the Council and reducing the 

risk of reputational damage. 

 

5.8 Risk Management 

 

5.8.1 The adoption of the revised policy and adherence by officers should reduce the risk of the 

Council being open to legal challenge or judicial review. 

 

5.9 Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales 

 

5.9.1 The policy has been revised following consultation with all service areas involved in 

regulatory work. The original policy was open to public and stakeholder consultation prior to 

it being adopted by Cabinet. 

 

5.9.2 Public consultation on the amended policy was not considered appropriate as the 

amendments are not material. 

 

 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 

 

6.1 All wards and communities within South Holland 

 

 

 

 

Background papers:-  

 

Lead Contact Officer 

Name and Post: Donna Hall Head of Public Protection 

Telephone Number  

Email: Donna.Hall@sholland.gov.uk 

 

Key Decision: Y  

 

Exempt Decision: N  

 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service  

 

Appendices attached to this report:  

Appendix A Draft Revised Corporate Enforcement Policy 

 

Page 108



 
 

 

 

 

Corporate Enforcement  

Policy 

 

 

 
Authorised by South Holland Cabinet: 29/5/18 

Reviewed and Updated: October 2021 

Authorised by South Holland Cabinet:  

 

 

Page 109



2 
 

 

Table of Contents 

Section  Page 

1.0 Introduction 3 

1.1 Principles of Good Regulation 3 

1.2 Statute and Guidance 4 

1.3 Policy Status 5 

2.0 Purpose of this Policy 5 

3.0  Scope of the Policy 6 

4.0  Non-Compliance 6 

4.1 Approach to Dealing with Non-Compliance 6 

4.2 How Action is Determined 7 

4.3 Factors that Influence our Response to Breaches 8 

4.4 Approach to Complaints Regarding Non-Compliance 8 

5.0 Conduct of Investigations 8 

5.1 Powers of Authorised Officers 9 

5.2 Progress of Investigations 10 

5.3 Training and Appointment of Officers 10 

6.0 Decisions on Enforcement Action 10 

6.1 Range of Actions Available  10 

6.2 How Decisions are Made on Enforcement Action 14 

6.2 How Decisions are Communicated 14 

7.0 Safeguarding 14 

8.0 Information Sharing 15 

9.0 Review of this Policy 15 

10.0 Comments and Complaints 15 

 

 

Policy Updates 

First Approval South Holland Cabinet 29/5/2018 

Review Led by Head of Public Protection. Managers of 
Enforcement services consulted.  

Sept/Oct 
2021 

Consideration Policy Development Panel  

Approval South Holland Cabinet  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 110



3 
 

 

 

 

South Holland District Council 

Enforcement Policy 

 

1.0 Introduction 

The Council carries out a wide range of regulatory roles in meeting its many statutory 

duties of protecting the public, individuals and the environment. 

These duties are met by carrying out a range of activities, including carrying out 

programmed inspections of premises, responding to complaints, issuing licences and 

offering advice. This Policy outlines the approach it takes when considering enforcement 

action. 

This policy is an overarching policy that applies to all the Council’s Services with 

enforcement duties, although it should be noted that some services also have more specific 

enforcement requirements, as defined by specific legislative guidance and regulations. 

The appropriate use of the full range of enforcement powers, including prosecution, is 

important, both to secure compliance with the law and to ensure that those who have 

duties under it are held to account for failures to safeguard health, safety, welfare and 

environment or breach of regulations enforced by the Council. 

In deciding on the most appropriate course of action officers should have regard to the 

principles set out in this policy and the need to maintain a balance between enforcement 

and other activities, including inspection, advice and education. 

 

1.1 Principles of Good Regulation 

Regulatory activities undertaken by the Council will be exercised in a way that are: 

i. Proportionate – activities will reflect the level of risk to the public and enforcement 

action taken will relate to the seriousness of the offence; 

ii. Accountable – activities will be open to public scrutiny, with clear and accessible 

policies, and fair and efficient complaints procedures; 

iii. Consistent – advice given to those regulated will be robust and reliable and officers 

will respect advice provided by other regulators. The Council shall seek to ensure 

consistency of enforcement; however the Council realises that consistency is not a 

simple matter of uniformity. Officers will need to exercise their professional 

judgement and discretion according to the circumstances of each individual case 

Page 111



4 
 

and the relevant responsibilities and intervention systems maintained by the 

Council; 

iv. Transparent – Officers will ensure that those they regulate are able to understand 

what is expected of them and what they can anticipate in return, and 

v. Targeted – Resources will be focused on higher risk enterprises and activities, 

reflecting local need and national priorities and where the Council believes its 

efforts are able to have an impact. 

 

1.2 Statute and Guidance 

The Council will have consideration to the following as appropriate: 

a) Regulators’ Code1     

The Council has had regard to the Regulators’ Code made under section 23 of the 

Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006 in the preparation of this policy. In certain 

instances it may conclude that a provision in the Code is either not relevant or is 

outweighed by another provision. Where statutory guidance and legislation specifies the 

action to be taken this legislation takes precedence. 

b) Human Rights Act 1998 

The Council is a public authority for the purposes of the Human Rights Act 1998. It 

therefore applies the principles of the European Convention for the Protection of Human 

Rights and Fundamental Freedoms. This Policy and all associated enforcement decisions 

take account of the provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998. In particular, due regard is 

had to the right to a fair trial and the right to respect for private and family life, home and 

correspondence. 

c) General Data Protection Regulation and Data Protection Act 2018  

Officers will comply with all relevant data protection laws and any associated statutes, 

regulations and guidance. 

d) The Code for Crown Prosecutors  2 

When deciding whether to institute criminal proceedings the Council has regard to the 

provisions of The Code for Crown Prosecutors as issued by the Director of Public 

Prosecutions. 

The Code for Crown Prosecutors is a public document that sets out the general principles 

to follow when decisions are made in respect of prosecuting cases. The Code sets out two 

                                                           
1 The Regulators' Code which came into statutory effect in 2014 provides a clear, flexible and principles-
based framework for how regulators should engage with those they regulate. 
 
2 The Code for Crown Prosecutors as issued by the Director of Public Prosecutions sets out the general 
principles to follow when investigating and making decisions in prosecution cases. 

Page 112

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulators-code
https://www.cps.gov.uk/publication/code-crown-prosecutors


5 
 

tests that must be satisfied commonly referred to as the ‘Evidential Test’ and the ‘Public 

Interest Test’: 

(i) Evidential Test - is there enough evidence against the defendant? When deciding 

whether there is enough evidence to prosecute, the Council will consider what evidence 

can be used in court and is reliable. It must be satisfied there is enough evidence to provide 

a "realistic prospect of conviction" against each alleged offender. 

(ii) Public Interest Test - is it in the public interest for the case to be brought to court? 

The Council will balance factors for and against prosecution carefully and fairly, considering 

each case on its merits. The public interest factors that we will take into account are 

detailed under the enforcement options available to us in Section 6. 

e) Regulatory Enforcement and Sanctions Act 2008  

The Regulatory Enforcement and Sanctions Act 2008, as amended, established Primary 

Authority Partnerships3. The Council will comply with the requirements of the Act when it 

is considering taking enforcement action against business or organisation that has a 

Primary Authority Partnership, and will have regard to guidance issued by the Secretary of 

State in relation to Primary Authority. 

 

1.3 Policy Status 

This Policy was first approved at the Cabinet meeting of South Holland District Council on 

29 May 2018, following an open public consultation between 9 and 23 March 2018. 

 

2.0 Purpose of this Policy 

One of the functions of the Council is to act as a regulator and an enforcement agency for 

a large range of legal duties and powers applied by Acts of Parliament and the Regulations 

and Orders made under them (including various byelaws). 

This policy sets out standards that will be applied across the Council when acting in its role 

as regulator and enforcement agency and what residents, businesses, consumers, and 

workers can expect from the Council. 

It is supplemented in some cases by more specific and detailed service-based procedures. 

These procedures also set out the approach to be followed by authorised officers when 

making decisions in respect of the Council’s compliance and enforcement activities. The 

Council is committed to ensuring that all authorised officers will act in accordance with this 

policy. 

 

                                                           
3 Primary Authority Partnership is a scheme which enables businesses to form a legal partnership with a 
local authority regulator, and receive advice which other local regulators must respect.  

Page 113

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/local-regulation-primary-authority


6 
 

3.0 Scope of the Policy 

This policy is the overarching enforcement policy for the Council. It outlines the approach 

to enforcement and lays down the principles that will be followed in deciding upon and 

taking action. 

Enforcement includes any criminal or civil action taken by the Council aimed at ensuring 

that individuals or businesses comply with the law. 

This policy has been set in accordance with the Regulators’ Code. This means that the 

Council will be open, helpful, fair and careful to ensure that any action required by the 

Council is proportionate to the risks. 

Council services will work with and consult other agencies, and other service areas within 

the Council, as necessary, where there is a shared or complementary enforcement role. 

Officers will take reasonable steps to assist businesses and individuals to comply with the 

law. However officers will be prepared to ensure compliance by exercising the formal 

powers delegated to them in the Council's Scheme of Delegation including, where 

appropriate, prosecution. 

In certain circumstances the Council will seek to raise awareness and increase compliance 

levels by publicising unlawful trade practices or criminal activity. Where appropriate the 

results of specific hearings or court cases may also be published, and consideration will be 

given to the Publicising Sentencing Outcomes Guidance4 for public authorities on 

publicising information (including via the internet) about individual sentencing outcomes 

within the current legal framework.  

In exceptional circumstances it may be necessary for Officers to deviate from this policy. 

Where this is justifiable the decision will be taken by a Senior Manager and reasons for 

doing so will be fully documented. 

 

4.0 Non-Compliance 

4.1 Approach to Dealing with Non-Compliance 

An open, fair and proportionate approach will be taken in dealing with breaches of 

legislation that are regulated and enforced by the Council. Raising awareness and 

promoting good practice in regulated areas is the first step in preventing breaches, and 

officers of the Council will signpost to guidance on aspects of the law where requested to 

do so. 

Best efforts will be used to resolve any issues where the law may have been broken without 

taking formal action, or referring the matter to the courts when the circumstances indicate 

                                                           
4 The  Publicising Sentencing Outcomes  guidance sets Government policy that all criminal justice services 
be open, transparent and accountable. It states that there should be a presumption in favour of the police, 
local authorities and other relevant criminal justice agencies publicising outcomes of criminal cases and 
basic personal information about convicted offenders. 

Page 114

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/487464/20150413-Publishing_Sentencing_Outcomes_MoJ_Guidance_HQMCSPA-O.pdf


7 
 

that a minor offence may have been committed and the Council is confident that 

appropriate corrective action will be taken. 

However, there may be occasions when the breach is considered to be serious and/or 

where informal action is not appropriate. In such cases, immediate enforcement action 

may be taken without prior notice and, as noted above, some services have specific 

legislative guidance and regulations that set out the enforcement requirements in these 

services. 

Advice regarding the non-compliance, the actions required and decisions taken at the time 

of the intervention, along with the reasons for these will be clearly explained. An 

opportunity to discuss the Council’s course of action will be provided to ensure actions are 

proportionate and consistent. As stated in the previous paragraph, where immediate 

enforcement action is required, the opportunity for discussion may not be given where 

there is a serious breach or public health or safety is at risk. 

Officers investigate potential breaches of legislation and they are responsible for managing 

investigations and making decisions on enforcement action. As part of this process, they 

may consult with colleagues and managers in determining the best and most appropriate 

course of action. Officers have the power to use a variety of legislation in the course of 

their duties, and these have been delegated to them in accordance with the Council’s 

Scheme of Delegation. In relation to prosecutions, where relevant, officers’ cases are 

reviewed by a service manager and approved following a case conference involving key 

officers, as defined in the Scheme of Delegation. 

In some instances, the Council may have shared responsibilities or a complementary role 

with another enforcement agency. In these circumstances, officers will liaise with that 

other agency to ensure effective co- ordination, to avoid inconsistencies and to ensure that 

any proceedings taken are proportionate and appropriate. 

The Council will be fair, objective and consistent in its approach to enforcement by 

following the criteria and guidance set down in relevant legislation and codes of practice. 

The Council may publicise information about enforcement action in line with the Criminal 

Justice System document entitled ‘Publicising Sentencing Outcomes’. This will usually occur 

once an investigation has been brought to a conclusion via a successful prosecution in 

Court. Any news releases of this nature are normally sent electronically by the 

Communications Team to newspapers and broadcast media to use in their news bulletins. 

Such information may also be publicised on the Council’s website and via other social 

media. 

 

4.2 How Action is Determined 

Where evidence is found that a business or other regulated person is showing flagrant 

disregard for the law by deliberately or persistently failing to comply with advice or 

requests made by the Council, it may be deemed that informal action is not appropriate. 

Page 115



8 
 

Under these circumstances enforcement action may be escalated directly to prosecution 

or other more severe sanctions where available. 

Where there is specific legislative guidance and regulations that set out the enforcement 

requirements these will be followed. 

Where a business or other regulated person contacts the Council to ask for advice and it 

transpires that a breach of legislation is present at the premises, the most appropriate 

course of action will be determined based on the factors outlined in section 6 below. 

If it is clear that the business or regulated person is keen to resolve the non- compliance 

quickly, taking on board and completing the steps recommended by the Council, an 

informal approach is likely to be taken as opposed to triggering enforcement action. 

However, if there is a serious breach and/or there is an imminent risk to public health or 

safety, enforcement action may still have to be taken but the Council will seek to work with 

the business or regulated person to resolve the problem as quickly as possible. 

 

4.3 Factors that Influence our Response to Breaches  

Where a breach of legislation is being investigated the approach taken will be 

proportionate and will take into account factors such as business size and capacity. 

If the Council has provided advice or guidance to a business or regulated person, officers 

will make the necessary checks to ensure that, where this relates to a legal requirement 

rather than best practice, the non-compliance has been rectified. 

The Council may receive referrals from other enforcement bodies that require 

investigation. These referrals will typically be as a result of the other bodies’ inspections or 

investigations, or intelligence that they have received. The Council will also refer to other 

enforcement bodies where breaches of legislation that are dealt with by that body are 

found. 

 

4.4 Approach to Complaints Regarding Non-Compliance 

Where a complaint of non-compliance relating to a business, or other regulated person, is 

received, the officers investigating this breach will assess the information received and may 

make further enquiries to determine whether a complaint requires investigation. In 

assessing a complaint, officers may consult colleagues and managers to help assess what 

risk may be involved and this will determine what action is taken.   

 

5.0 Conduct of Investigations  

Enforcement action may result in either civil or criminal proceedings being instituted by 

the Council. The process that will be followed by officers in the investigation of alleged 

breaches of the law will depend on which branch of law the investigation is being 

Page 116



9 
 

conducted under. As the enforcing authority in any proceedings it instigates, the burden of 

proof falls to the Council. 

Investigations will be carried out in compliance with the following legislation and their 

guidance, and any other legislation as may be applicable at the time and in so far as they 

relate to the Council.  

Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 (and Codes of Practice) 

Criminal Procedure and Investigations Act 1996 

Human Rights Act 1998 

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 

Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001 

Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006 

Regulatory Enforcement and Sanctions Act 2008 

These Acts and associated guidance control how evidence is collected and used and give a 

range of protections to citizens and potential defendants. 

The authorised officers of the Council will also comply with the requirements of the 

particular legislation under which they are acting, and with any associated guidance or 

codes of practice. 

 

5.1 Powers of Authorised Officers 

There are numerous pieces of legislation which the Council as a local authority either has 

a duty to enforce or adopts or chooses to enforce. The powers available to officers under 

these different pieces of legislation vary considerably and it is not the purpose of this 

document to provide an exhaustive list of those powers. 

If officers come across situations where they believe they are being obstructed in carrying 

out their duties they will always explain the provisions of the relevant legislation in order 

to resolve the issue. In some circumstances it is an offence to obstruct an authorised 

officer, which could lead to prosecution. 

The Council recognises the Primary Authority scheme and where appropriate will 

communicate with any identified primary authority as part of the enforcement/compliance 

process. 

In some cases powers of seizure are used for safety and evidence gathering purposes. 

Where articles are removed for any of these purposes a receipt or notice will be given at 

the time of the inspection or as soon as is practicably possible afterwards 

Officers do not have the power of arrest; however joint working is undertaken with the 

Police and other agencies. Instances may arise where the Police or other agencies consider 

that an arrest should be made in connection with an authorised officer’s investigation. 

Page 117



10 
 

Officers will carry out formal interviews in line with this policy and the Police and Criminal 

Evidence Act 1984. 

In respect of legislation in England that contains criminal offences, there are strict time 

limits beyond which the law prevents proceedings being instituted. These time limits vary 

and are stated in the relevant legislation. 

In relevant cases where it is proposed that either criminal or civil proceedings are to be 

brought by the Council a report will be prepared containing all relevant evidence that has 

been gathered during an investigation. This report will be reviewed by a Senior manager 

and a case conference may be called to consider the matter, following which a decision will 

be made in accordance with the Council’s Scheme of Delegation. The evidence will usually 

also be reviewed by a solicitor before any proceedings are instigated. 

 

5.2 Progress of Investigations  

Officers carrying out investigations will keep alleged offenders and witnesses informed 

about the progress of any investigation as far as their involvement in the process is 

concerned. 

 

5.3 Training and Appointment of Officers 

All officers undertaking enforcement duties will be suitably trained and qualified to ensure 

they are competent to undertake their enforcement activities.  

The Council supports the principle of continuing professional development and will ensure 

that officers are given the necessary support to achieve this, particularly where there are 

statutory requirements to do so. 

Officers may have a variety of delegated powers to assist them in carrying out 

investigations. In the event of any doubt as to an Officer’s powers, confirmation can be 

obtained from their senior manager at the Council. Officers will carry identification and 

proof of authorisation with them when they are carrying out regulatory work. 

 

6.0 Decisions on Enforcement Action 

6.1 Range of Actions Available 

There are a range of actions  that are available to the Council as set out in the different 

legislation the Council enforces. Examples of the main types of actions that may be 

considered are set out below: 

a) Compliance Advice, Guidance and Support 

The Council uses compliance advice, guidance and support as a first response in the case 

of many breaches of legislation that are identified. Advice is provided, sometimes in the 

Page 118



11 
 

form of a warning letter to assist individuals and businesses in rectifying breaches as quickly 

and efficiently as possible, avoiding the need for further enforcement action. A warning 

letter (sometimes called an ‘informal caution’) will set out what should be done to rectify 

the breach and to prevent re-occurrence. If a similar breach is identified in the future, this 

letter will be persuasive in considering the most appropriate enforcement action to take 

on that occasion. Such a letter cannot be cited in court as a previous conviction but it may 

be presented in evidence. 

Where more formal enforcement action, such as a simple caution or prosecution, is taken, 

the Council recognises that there is likely to be an ongoing need for compliance advice and 

support, to prevent further breaches. 

b) Voluntary Undertakings 

The Council may accept voluntary undertakings that breaches will be rectified and/or 

recurrences prevented. The Council will take any failure to honour voluntary undertakings 

very seriously and enforcement action is likely to result. 

c) Statutory (Legal) Notices 

The Council has powers to issue statutory notices in respect of many breaches. These 

include: ‘Stop Notices’, ‘Prohibition Notices/Orders’, ‘Emergency Prohibition 

Notices/Orders’, and ‘Improvement Notices’. Such notices are, subject to any appeal, 

legally binding. Failure to comply with a statutory notice can be a criminal offence and may 

lead to prosecution and/ or, where appropriate, the carrying out of work in default. 

A statutory notice will clearly set out actions that must be taken and the timescale within 

which they must be taken. It is likely to require that any breach be rectified and/or 

prevented from recurring. It may also prohibit specified activities until such time as 

prescribed works/safeguards have been carried out to the satisfaction of the authority. 

Where a statutory notice is issued, an explanation of the appeals process will be provided 

to the recipient. 

Some notices issued in respect of premises may be affixed to the premises and/or 

registered as local land charges. 

d) Financial Penalties 

The Council has powers to issue fixed penalty notices or penalty charge notices in respect 

of some breaches. A fixed penalty notice or penalty charge notice is not a criminal fine, and 

does not appear on an individual’s criminal record. If a fixed penalty/penalty charge notice 

is not paid, the Council may commence criminal proceedings in respect of the breach or 

take civil enforcement action to recover the penalty charge subject to the provisions of the 

relevant legislation. 

If a fixed penalty/ penalty charge notice is paid in respect of a breach the Council cannot 

take any further enforcement action in respect of that breach. Payment of a fixed penalty 

does not provide immunity from prosecution in respect of similar or recurrent breaches. 

Page 119



12 
 

The Council is only able to issue fixed penalty notices where it has specific powers to do so. 

If fixed penalty notices are available, their issue is at the Council’s discretion. 

In some circumstances, in particular where breaches are serious or recurrent, it may be 

that prosecution is more appropriate than the issue of a fixed penalty notice. 

e) Injunctive Actions, Enforcement Orders etc. 

In some circumstances the Council may seek a direction from the court (in the form of an 

order or an injunction) that a breach is rectified and/or prevented from recurring. The court 

may also direct that specified activities be suspended until the breach has been rectified 

and/or safeguards have been put in place to prevent future breaches.  

Failure to comply with a court order constitutes Contempt of Court, a serious offence that 

may lead to imprisonment. 

The Council is required to seek enforcement orders after issuing some enforcement 

notices, providing the court with an opportunity to confirm the restrictions imposed by the 

notice. Otherwise, the Council will usually only seek a court order if it has serious concerns 

about compliance with voluntary undertakings or a notice. 

f) Simple Caution 

The Council has the power to issue Simple Cautions (previously known as ‘Formal 

Cautions’) as an alternative to prosecution for some less serious offences, where a person 

admits an offence and consents to the Simple Caution. Where a Simple Caution is offered 

and declined, the Council is likely to consider prosecution. 

A Simple Caution will appear on the offender’s criminal record. It is likely to influence how 

the Council and others deal with any similar breaches in the future, and may be cited in 

court if the offender is subsequently prosecuted for a similar offence. If a Simple Caution 

is issued to an individual (rather than a corporation) it may have consequences if that 

individual seeks certain types of employment. 

Simple cautions will be used in accordance with Ministry of Justice document ‘Simple 

Cautions for Adult Offenders’. 

g) Prosecution 

The Council may prosecute in respect of serious or recurrent breaches, or where other 

enforcement actions, such as voluntary undertakings or statutory notices have failed to 

secure compliance. When deciding whether to prosecute the Council has regard to the 

provisions of The Code for Crown Prosecutors as issued by the Director of Public 

Prosecutions. 

Prosecution will only be considered where the Council is satisfied that it has sufficient 

evidence to provide a realistic prospect of conviction against the defendant(s). 

If the evidential test is satisfied a prosecution will usually take place unless there are public 

interest factors tending against prosecution that outweigh those tending in favour. The 

Page 120



13 
 

more serious the offence or the offender’s record of breaches/ criminal behaviour, the 

more likely it is that prosecution will be required in the public interest. 

Assessing the public interest is not merely a matter of adding up the number of factors on 

each side and seeing which has the greater number. The public interest must be decided 

on the merits of each individual case and making an overall assessment. It is quite possible 

that one factor alone may outweigh a number of other factors that tend in the opposite 

direction.  

A successful prosecution will result in a criminal record. The court may impose a fine and 

in respect of particularly serious breaches a prison sentence. The court may order the 

forfeiture and disposal of non-compliant goods and/or the confiscation of any profits that 

have resulted from the breach. Prosecution may also lead, in some circumstances, to the 

disqualification of individuals from acting as company directors. 

h) Refusal/Suspension/Revocation of Licences 

The Committee of the Licensing Authority meets to discharge the duties of the Licensing 

Authority under the Licensing Act 2003 and Gambling Act 2005. All other Licensing Matters 

are governed by the Licensing Committee. Sub-Committees are appointed to determine 

licenses or registrations where the matter could not or should not be determined by 

Officers under delegated authority. 

The Council issues a number of different licences, consents, registrations and permits. They 

are applied for by submission of an application, the form and content of which is 

sometimes specified in law. Applications are generally granted for a limited defined period 

and will be required to be renewed annually unless otherwise specified. 

The Council may be permitted to ask supplementary questions on an application form in 

order to assist it in reaching a decision on whether the applicant is a fit and proper person 

to hold such a licence. 

In some cases applications are subject to either a public or interested party consultation 

process and any application that attracts adverse comment or objection or does not meet 

Council policy requirements will be referred to an internal civil hearing forum to determine 

the application. 

Most licences and other permissions have conditions attached, which can be standard 

conditions or specific conditions or a combination of both. These conditions form part of 

the licence and lay down requirements that a business or individual must have regard to 

when trading. Breach of a condition may be a civil or criminal matter. 

When considering applications information supplied with the application together with any 

previous enforcement action and compliance record can be taken into account when 

reaching a decision. 

 

i) Proceeds of Crime 

Page 121



14 
 

Where appropriate the Council will consider the use of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 

which allows local authorities to recover assets that have been accrued through criminal 

activity. Applications are made after a conviction has been secured.  

 

6.2 How Decisions are Made on Enforcement Action 

In assessing what enforcement action is necessary and proportionate consideration will be 

given to, the following principles for enforcement set out in the ‘Macrory Review’: 

• Aim to change the behaviour of the offender; 

• Aim to eliminate any financial gain or benefit from non-compliance; 

• Be responsive and consider what is appropriate for the particular offender and 

regulatory issue, which can include punishment and the public stigma that should 

be associated with a criminal conviction; 

• Be proportionate to the nature of the offence and the harm caused; 

• Aim to restore the harm caused by regulatory non-compliance, where appropriate; 

and, 

• Aim to deter future non-compliance. 

Where appropriate decisions about what enforcement action is to be taken may involve 

consultation between: 

• Investigating Officer (s) 

• Senior Managers 

• Solicitors appointed to act for the Council 

• Portfolio Holder 

The decision to prosecute a case will be taken by those with the authority to do so in 

accordance with the Council’s Scheme of Delegations. 

 

6.3 How Decisions are Communicated 

The Council will provide a timely explanation in writing of the decision including any rights 

to representation or appeal and information on the process involved. 

 

7.0 Safeguarding 

Consideration will be given to the Council’s Safeguarding Policy when carrying out 

investigations. This is available on the intranet to all staff, who will also receive updates 

and training where relevant to their role.  

Page 122



15 
 

Where an investigation highlights safeguarding concerns for a child or vulnerable adult, 

these will be shared with the relevant agency in line with the Safeguarding Policy and 

Procedures. The Council’s Designated Safeguarding Officer oversees this. 

 

8.0 Information Sharing 

On occasion it will be necessary for this Council to share information with other Agencies. 

Section 5 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 places a duty on us to do all we can to 

reasonably prevent crime and disorder. The Council will fulfill this obligation by sharing 

information with other Council services and partner agencies as required. All disclosures 

will be in accordance with the provisions of the General Data Protection Regulations 

(GDPR) 2018. 

 

9.0 Review of this Policy 

This policy will be reviewed periodically or in line with changes in relevant legislation, or 

the Regulators’ Code. 

 

10.0 Comments and Complaints 

All appeals in relation to enforcement action taken should be via the statutory appeals 

process outlined in the relevant legislation. 

Complaints about the conduct of officers should be made via the Council’s corporate 

complaints procedure which is available he

Page 123



 
 

 

Page 124



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Report of: Assistant Director - Governance (Monitoring Officer) 

  

To: Policy Development Panel – 16 November 2021 

 

(Author: Andrea Tait - Democratic Services Officer) 

 

Subject Policy Development Panel Work Programme 

 

Purpose: To set out the Work Programme of the Policy Development Panel  

 

 
Recommendation:  
 
That the Panel gives consideration to the report and identifies any issues for discussion. 
 

 

1.0 BACKGROUND 
 
1.1  Background 
 
1.1.1 This report records the issues for consideration that have been identified by the Panel for 

inclusion on its Work Programme. 
 
1.2  Issues 
 
1.2.1 Appendix A sets out the dates of future Panel meetings along with proposed items for 

consideration.  These items were either originally suggested by councillors or are being 
referred to the Panel from officers or the Cabinet.  This appendix will be updated as new 
items are identified. 

 
1.2.2 Appendix B sets out the task groups that have been identified by the Panel.  The table 

shows: 
 

• The name of the task group 

• What it wants to achieve 

• Key dates 

• Membership of the task group 

• When the task group will be reporting back to the Panel 
 
1.2.3 It is hoped that in presenting the information in this way, and by having the report as a 

standing item on the agenda, it will record the issues identified by the Panel and provide 
the opportunity for councillors to monitor the progress of its Work Programme. 

 
2.0  OPTIONS 
 
2.1 To note and consider the current status of the Work Programme. 
 
2.2 To do nothing. 

 

 

Page 125

Agenda Item 16.



3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 
 
3.1 To allow councillors to feed into the Panel’s calendar of Work Programme items and the  
 Work Programme on a regular basis, to ensure that they stay relevant and up to date. 
 
4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 
 
4.1 The calendar of Work Programme items and the Work Programme will provide councillors  
 with up to date and relevant information.  Timelines for various calendar items and 
 proposed task groups within the Work Programme are included within the appendices. 
 
5.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
 In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 

 decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;  

 Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 

 Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 

 Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation 

 Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under 

 one or more of these headings, these are identified below. 

5.1 Corporate Priorities 

5.1.1 In identifying issues for inclusion on the work programme, councillors consider the 

 suitability of the subject, taking into account such considerations as whether the issue is 

 strategic and significant and whether it is likely to lead to effective outcomes.  One of the 

 indicators against which each potential task group is considered identifies how strongly the 

 topic links to the Council's key aims and priorities. 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 
 
6.1 This report has no implications however, as individual items are progressed through the 

Work Programme, their impact on wards and communities will be assessed. 
 
7.0 ACRONYMS  
 
7.1  None. 

Background papers:- None 

 

Lead Contact Officer 

Name and Post: Andrea Tait Democratic Services Officer 

Telephone Number 01775 764693 

Email: atait@sholland.gov.uk 

 

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No  

 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service  

 

Appendices attached to this report:  

Appendix A Work Programme Calendar 2021/22 

Appendix B Task Group Work Programme 2021/22 

Page 126



 
APPENDIX A 

 
Policy Development Panel – Calendar of Work Programme items 

 

Date of 
Meeting 

Agenda items 

16 Nov 2021 • Policy Register – standing agenda item.   

• Consideration of policies.  
Reports and policies required for:  

o The Corporate Enforcement Policy; 
o The Data Protection Policy; 
o Fuel Card Policy 
o Draft Climate Change Policy 
Verbal Updates required for: 
o The Industrial Units Letting Policy; and 
o The Asset Management Strategy Policy 

• Untidy Sites Policy Document Handbook 
 

18 Jan 2022 • Policy Register – standing agenda item.   

• Consideration of The FOI Policy  

• Planning Design Task Group Final Report – updated following 
further work by the Task Group, as agreed at 23/6/20. 

• Planning Reform (if any information to report, update to be provided 
by the Planning and Building Control Manager) 

 

27 Jan 2022 
Joint 
PMP/PDP  

Budget Scrutiny 

23 Mar 2022 • Policy Register – standing agenda item.  

 
 

 

Page 127



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B 
 

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL – WORK PROGRAMME 2021/2022 
 

Name of Task Group What the Task Group wants to achieve Date added 
to Work 
Programme 

Date Work 
Commenced     

Membership of 
Task Group 

Proposed date to report 
back to Panel 

South Holland Centre 
Task Group 

To review the historic operation of the 
SHC, examine the proposals, consider 
other activities, uses and operation that 
may be possible to help inform the task 
group in making recommendations to 
enable the Centre to serve the public and 
ensure a viable future. 
 

8 September 
2021 

28 
September2021 

B Alcock (Chair) 
F Biggadike 
P Redgate 
S Walsh 
D Wilkinson 
A Woolf 
A Newton (Co-
Optee) 

TBC 
To be presented to a 
Joint PMP/PDP meeting, 
prior to Cabinet. 

Planning Design  To consider the draft Supplementary 
Planning Design document and how 
design issues raised (including those 
arising from the Performance Monitoring 
Panel’s Review of Implemented Planning 
Decisions tour) could be addressed within 
the document; and 
That the Task Group’s recommendations 
be incorporated into the draft 
Supplementary Planning Document, to be 
considered by the Policy Development 
Panel, with final agreement by the South 
East Lincolnshire Joint Strategic Planning 
Committee 
Scope agreed at first Task Group 
meeting 28 January 2020 
 

25 June 2019 28 January 
2020 
 

J Astill (Chair) 
J L King 
P A Redgate 
J L Reynolds  
S C Walsh 

Final Report to PDP 23 
June 2020. 
Further work to be 
undertaken, with 
updated final report to a 
future meeting, early 
2021, once direction has 
been clarified with 
regard to the 
Government White 
Paper on Planning 
Reform 

Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
Task Group 

Scope to be agreed at first meeting of the 
Task Group.   

24 
September 
2019 

To run at same 
time as Planning 
Design Task 

Avery 
Drury 

 

P
age 129



Task Group to consider the facts on the 
CIL, and findings to be fed into 
Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD) 
 
 
 
 

Reconsidered 
21/1/20 

Group-findings 
to be fed into 
SPD. 
Update 
(15/9/20)-work 
to commence 
early 2021, once 
direction has 
been clarified 
with regard to  
Government 
White Paper on 
Planning 
Reform 

McLean  
Woolf 

 
PENDING TASK GROUPS 

 

Name of Task Group What the Task Group wants to achieve Date added 
to Work 
Programme 

Date Work 
Commenced     

Membership of 
Task Group 

Proposed date to report 
back to Panel 

Devolution Task Group Executive Manager Governance to set 
Terms of Reference once White Paper 
published 

23 June 2020 TBC TBC  

Data Protection/Data 
Retention Task Group 

To consider the implications of 
forthcoming changes to the Data 
Protection Policy as follows: 

• To develop the new policy in light of 
issues raised in the gap analysis and 
legislative changes and that a more 
detailed suggested scope would be 
circulated prior to the first Task Group 
meeting. 

 

3 October 
2017 

11 December 
2017 

H Drury 
M D McLean 
A R Woolf 
(Chairman) 
A Harrison  

To PDP 1 May 2018  
To Cabinet 29 May 2018 

 

P
age 130


	Agenda
	2. Minutes
	7. Key Decision Plan
	8. Policy Register Update
	9. Data Protection Policy
	App A Data Protection Policy
	Appendix B - Data Security Breach Procedure
	Appendix C - Response procedures for data subject requests

	10. Draft Climate Change Strategy
	Appendix A

	11. Fuel Card Policy
	Appendix A for Fuel Card Policy

	12. Corporate Enforcement Policy
	Appendix A Revised Corporate Enforcement Policy

	16. Policy Development Panel Work Programme
	Appendix A
	Appendix B


